
V 

In WWII, @ OMAHA Beachhead, what the bottom 
Officer found himself doing; and those effects 
upon our outcome, now seem almost unreal. 

Our 100% to 150% exposure to the enemy fire compared to their 5% 
Lost 75% of the Rangers killed in 4 hours, to poor G2, Intelligence 
Pictures showed me tank trap big round stone line across beaches 
The missing "Re-Go One Day Later" that could cost us many thousands 
Tell the General - nothing in writing, Lieutenant! - ordered 3* Admiral 
The Navy, with Army aboard, saved out the turkey & cranberries, until 
The pilot Capt. I funneled the Missing Manifests through became Lt Col 
3* General Bradley vs. 4* General Eisenhower, the missing Manifests 
Six Admirals, British & American, alone, no aides, a King, with only me 
To sick bay to see the sailor who stopped the one day too soon start 
The Big Bluff to fool Hitler that I had to gradually agree to believe 
The 5" ships gun Blasts which I got trapped under, with no escape way 
The only person asleep when the first hours of waves of troops went in 
My 3* Admiral introduced me as Lt Col to British General Montgomery 
How I evolved a 130 cure for my repeating Malaria, which worked 
And there were 3*s in one of our two chairs, so I chatted with Bradley 
My 3* Vice Admiral vetoed instead of updating my promotion to Captain 
The All Navy Units 28 Months promotions, when my 30 months got lost 
Maybe I can escape being caught for 18 Charges, over the missing lists 
In 60 minutes I went through the French Underground, French Resist­
ance, the British Infantry, the hiding German Infantry, but was 
captured by American Infantry in my first "touristing" daily trip ashore. 
Being the only "tourist" in the Biggest Show got two other Officers shot 
My JASCO's received the highest number of Presidential Citations 
I tricked my Lt Col into fonning the troop wave fronts into larger sizes 
Every 6 hours I listed totals killed, wounded, missing, shifted two maps 
We had serious weaknesses in Security that gave me real chills & sweat 
Horrible error of choosing to go in under bluff being like shot up ducks 
They would not do it, so I risked a series of 18 numerous lies, and did it 
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George Bonadio O r a l H i s t o r y 

Omaha Beachhead, P r e p a r a t i o n s & R e s u l t s , Good & Bad, as Seen by a 

Top S e c r e t "BIGOT" Card H o l d e r 

I was the J u n i o r O f f i c e r on the L i a i s o n S t a f f f o r the F l a g 

S t a f f , t h a t ' s the A d m i r a l t y , at the l a n d i n g o f the f i r s t 60,000 

t r o o p s on Omaha Beachhead. That was the 1st D i v i s i o n , r e i n f o r c e d 

w i t h the 29th D i v i s i o n , r e i n f o r c e d as the 2nd D i v i s i o n to go i n . 

Because my combat r e p o r t , as a 2 ''' L i e u t e n a n t from i n v a d i n g N o r t h 

A f r i c a , i n c l u d e d my recommendations f o r a new communications 

company, I was o f f e r e d a l i a i s o n p o s i t i o n on the b u i l d u p f o r the 

i n v a s i o n c a l l e d " O p e r a t i o n O v e r l o r d . " I was i n A f r i c a at the 

time. 

The Pentagon a c c e p t e d my s u g g e s t i o n s and produced at l e a s t 

f o u r J o i n t A s s a u l t S i g n a l Companies, a b b r e v i a t e d as JASCOs, a t 

Omaha Beachhead. My JASCO's earned the most number of 

P r e s i d e n t i a l c i t a t i o n s of a l l of the u n i t s on t h a t beachhead. 

The Navy l i a i s o n s t a f f s f o r both Omaha and Utah beachheads 

had t a b l e s o f o r g a n i z a t i o n of 15 Army o f f i c e r s , but no e n l i s t e d 

p e r s o n s . Utah had the f i f t e e n o f f i c e r s i n t h e i r s . Omaha's 

s t a r t e d w i t h 6, dropped one q u i c k l y , then our m i l i t a r y s c h o o l 

L i e u t e n a n t - C o l o n e l moved to the 1st D i v i s i o n , so f o u r o f us 

c o n t i n u e d d o i n g the work t h a t c a l l e d f o r 15 o f f i c e r s , the top o f 

the l e v e l b e i n g o f the G e n e r a l S t a f f . 
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Two o f the o f f i c e r s c l a i m e d t h a t they were i n over t h e i r 

heads, t h a t they c o u l d not comprehend the c o m p l e x i t i e s o f t h e i r 

m u l t i p l e d u t i e s . At an even assignment, each o f the f o u r of us 

would have had 375 o f normal d u t i e s . T h i s l e f t Major George 

P e r i s h and m y s e l f t o be v e r y busy. F r e q u e n t l y , i n the 

p r e p a r a t i o n phase, t h e r e were movies i n the Ward Room f o r 

o f f i c e r s a t 10:00 p.m. And f r e q u e n t l y , I c o u l d n ' t get t h e r e 

because I would work u n t i l , b r e a k i n g o f f , r e g a r d l e s s , at 1:30 i n 

the morning. I remember needing to work u n t i l 4:30 one depera t e 

morning. I had no e n l i s t e d men to do the men i a l work. 

The c l u e was i n t h a t the A d m i r a l had a r u n n i n g d i s p u t e w i t h 

the G e n e r a l . The A d m i r a l was to unload t r o o p s to t h a t G e n e r a l , as 

the Beach Mas t e r a s h o r e . J u s t a f t e r t h a t f u n c t i o n , they both 

used me as a c o n f i d e n t i a l messenger to c a r r y on t h e i r 

v i n d i c t i v e n e s s , arguments to blame each o t h e r f o r the " m i s s i n g 

m a n i f e s t s " of s h i p - h o l d placements of a l l the goods on a l l the 

thousand cargo s h i p s . By the time t h a t G e n e r a l B r a d l e y 

c o m p l a i n e d d i r e c t l y to Ike, on D p l u s 11, I went back to England, 

i l l e g a l l y , and s o l v e d the " m i s s i n g m a n i f e s t " problems. I counted 

18 c o u r t - m a r t i a l charges which, t o g e t h e r , c o u l d have had me sh o t . 

I t i s mentioned i n G e n e r a l Omar B r a d l e y ' s book "A S o l d i e r S t o r y , " 

page 305 and so f o r t h . 

D a i l y , a f t e r the t r o o p l a n d i n g s , I r e p r e s e n t e d the Army t o 

the Navy and t o the A i r Force i n the J o i n t Command Room, but o n l y 

from m i d n i g h t t o 6:00 a.m., as I was the J u n i o r O f f i c e r . One 

v e r s i o n o f the t a b l e o f o r g a n i z a t i o n c a l l e d f o r 4 L i e u t e n a n t 
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C o l o n e l s , 4 Majors and 7 C a p t a i n s . I was a L i e u t e n a n t i n the 

S i g n a l Corps. The A d m i r a l d i d not h i d e t h a t he h a t e d the Army. 

In the p l a n n i n g f o r the i n v a s i o n o p e r a t i o n , a master book 

was made to be d i s t r i b u t e d , one copy to each s h i p . As soon as 

the s h i p s were s e a l e d o f f s h o r e , they were to be d e l i v e r e d . In 

t h i s was a c r i t i c a l d e c i s i o n . "When s h o u l d the second of these 

two t r i p l e - s i z e d d i v i s i o n s go i n ? " Each d i v i s i o n was e n l a r g e d to 

way over t w i c e normal s i z e to about 30,000 men and 4,000 v e h i c l e s 

i n a n t i c i p a t i o n of many c a s u a l t i e s . 

The problem was, "when was the second u n i t , the 29th 

D i v i s i o n , to f o l l o w the 1st D i v i s i o n i n t o the beachhead?" J u s t 

f o r a number, to f i l l the page space, i t was s e t , i n p e n c i l , f o r 

D p l u s 2 ^ days or so. I t was known to me t h a t t h e r e was to be a 

j o i n t meeting of a l l the g e n e r a l grade o f f i c e r s , a d m i r a l s , 

g e n e r a l s , and the l i k e concerned, i n the Navy and i n the Army 

both, to meet and to d e c i d e t h i s e x t r e m e l y c r i t i c a l time. 

T h e r e f o r e , i t was r e a l t h a t i f the o p e r a t i o n began a second 

Dunkirk, or Dieppe, r o u t e , f a i l u r e t h i s time H i t l e r would not l e t 

many A l l i e d t r o o p s escape, as the B r i t i s h escaped back to England 

from D u n k i r k . The c a r e e r s of a l l those General Grade O f f i c e r s , 

who made the d e c i s i o n f o r whenever, would be c o l l a p s i n g and 

e n d i n g i n r u i n a t i o n . Hence, I knew t h a t they never d i d meet 

because, and hear t h i s , t h ey " c o u l d not come to an agreement" as 

to whether to meet on Army o r Navy t e r r a i n , so, t h e r e f o r e , they 

never c o u l d have a meeting, and not b e i n g a b l e t o have the 

meeting, t h e y c o u l d n ' t make a bad d e c i s i o n , which bad c h o i c e 
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c o u l d e f f e c t t h e i r c a r e e r s , one way or the o t h e r , f o r e v e r . 

I was one of the 163 persons h o l d i n g a "BIGOT" c a r d , which 

was o v e r p r i n t e d w i t h l a r g e r e d l e t t e r s s p e l l i n g out "BIGOT" so 

t h a t we would not show i t to anyone because a b i g o t i s a r e a l 

n a s t y p e r s o n a l i t y , and i t was n o t h i n g to g l o a t about, was i t ? 

A n y t h i n g i m p o r t a n t would be over stamped w i t h the word "BIGOT." 

T h i s c a r d meant t h a t I was e n t i t l e d to a l l D-Day s e c r e t s , as I 

had t o work w i t h them. I b e l i e v e t h a t I was the o n l y l o w l y Army 

L i e u t e n a n t w i t h a BIGOT c a r d . I knew t h a t the t i m i n g f o r the 

29th D i v i s i o n to f o l l o w the 1 D i v i s i o n was not yet d e c i d e d . 

The d e t a i l e d i n f o r m a t i o n book p r i n t i n g was d i r e c t l y below me on 

the top s e c r e t end of the s h i p . A runner came up and asked f o r 

t h a t " t i m i n g " f o r the 29th D i v i s i o n . I c o u l d n ' t c o n t a c t anybody 

e l s e who would know the i n f o r m a t i o n because t h e r e had not been 

the meeting! I knew t h a t i t had not been d e c i d e d , and why i t 

would not be d e c i d e d , and so on, so I asked, "How much time do I 

have l e f t to f i n d the d e c i s i o n i n f o r m a t i o n f o r you?" The runner 

ran down the deck and rushed back up and gasped, "Four minutes 

s i r . " "What?" "We had f i v e minutes when I was here a minute 

ago, s i r . We've got to get a l l these o f f to e v e r y s h i p b e f o r e 

d a r k . " 

I went out of the room, wrote down "The 29th D i v i s i o n w i l l 

i m m e d i a t e l y f o l l o w the 1st D i v i s i o n i n t o the beachhead." I 

remember tho s e words s p e c i f i c a l l y . I knew what I was d o i n g . 

Yes, I d i d s a c r i f i c e a n o ther 1,000 k i l l e d and 3,000 wounded o r so 

i n the 2 9 t h D i v i s i o n , but we saved the remains of 30,000 men o f 
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the 1 st D i v i s i o n which was p i n n e d down to i m m o b i l i t y w i t h e v e r y 

mortar s h e l l , at l e a s t one per minute, k i l l i n g and wounding more 

men. The 1st D i v i s i o n i n the movie "The Longest Day" was shown 

to not have any communications, i n 24-hours, back to England and 

to the l a n d h e a d q u a r t e r s because i t would have been something 

about " b e i n g t r a p p e d , unable to do much f i g h t i n g , most of the 

equipment was unusable or l o s t , t a k i n g s e r i o u s l y c a s u a l t i e s , and 

how can you r e l i e v e us? May we s u r r e n d e r ? We cannot reach our 

o b j e c t i v e s . S h o u l d we t r y to go to the eas t to go i n t o the 

B r i t i s h and Canadian beachhead," and so on. Such as, "Are we 

alone? D i d the B r i t i s h or the Canadians s t a y ashore? What about 

Utah beachhead?" So, yes, i t was a c r i t i c a l time. 

We made s e v e r a l s e r i o u s b l u n d e r s , as s h o u l d be expected w i t h 

such a l a r g e o p e r a t i o n . Number one, f o r example, we s h o u l d never 

have l a n d e d on a shore under a h i g h b l u f f where we became 

tr a p p e d . W h i l e they were i n l e s s than 5 exposure to our f i r e , 

we were 100'. exposed to t h e i r f i r e , s t u p i d l y . 

Number two, our p l a n e s a p p r o a c h i n g the beachhead above the 

c l o u d s i n s t e a d of below, so w a s t i n g 100 of these bombs on 

u s e l e s s i n l a n d t a r g e t s i n s t e a d o f t r o o p s f a c i n g us on the 

beachhead. 

Number t h r e e , our i n t e l l i g e n c e d i d not know t h a t t h e r e were 

no cannons, guns l e f t up t h e r e , so we r i d i c u l o u s l y a s s a u l t e d the 

beachhead t h e r e w i t h a Ranger b a t t a l i o n and l o s t 75o k i l l e d i n 

two h o u r s . A t o t a l l y u s e l e s s waste o f f l e s h . You want t o c r y 

over t h i n g s l i k e t h a t . The enemy had the f a v o r a b l e 5% t o 100% 
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r a t i o n , a g a i n . 

Number f o u r , we preceded our f i r s t l a n d i n g wave w i t h DD 

tanks - DD was Double Duty. I t was s e c r e t to me at the time I 

put them down, which I drew on to our t o t a l l a n d i n g c h a r t . I 

made up the l a n d i n g waves c h a r t s p e r s o n a l l y , not knowing what the 

DD's were. I was t o l d to put them ahead of the f i r s t wave. They 

were f l o a t i n g t a n k s , almost a l l of which were l o s t , almost none 

came ashore. Most of the crews were l o s t , sank way out t h e r e . 

And b e i n g i n the f i r s t coming ashore, they were p i c k e d o f f e a s i l y 

by machine gun f i r i n g . I don't b e l i e v e any of them got f u l l y 

ashore p a s t the l a r g e , w h i t e , round, stone, t a n k - r o l l i n g stone 

t r a p s . I saw those w h i t e stones on our photos of our beaches 

taken 3 weeks ahead. 

Number f i v e , we almost l o s t the f i r e power of our r o c k e t 

l a u n c h e r f l o t i l l a s because the f i r s t day d e l a y , when Eisenhower 

had to d e l a y i t , when the s l o w e r f l o t i l l a s , w i t h an advanced 

s t a r t , were t u r n e d back by a r a d i o s i g n a l . They d i d n ' t know 

whether to go a g a i n , or not. They d i d n ' t know. They had " r a d i o 

s i l e n c e s . " They d i d n ' t have any o t h e r r e c e i v e r s tuned i n to any 

o t h e r f r e q u e n c i e s , j u s t the o p e r a t i n g f r e q u e n c i e s . And t h e r e was 

r a d i o s i l e n c e a t t h a t time, anyway. We had gone through many 

r a d i o s i l e n c e s , so you c o u l d n ' t f i g u r e out which was which. 

To f i n d out i f the r o c k e t l a u n c h e r and frogmen were on t h e i r 

way 24-hours ahead o f the time on the E n g l i s h Channel, I had to 

l e a v e the s e a l e d H e a d q u a r t e r s S h i p , which was f o r b i d d e n , and 

t r a v e l on r e s t r i c t e d roads, which was d i f f i c u l t . E v e r y MP a t 



e v e r y c o r n e r stopped me. I t r a v e l e d f o r many m i l e s to get over 

to Southampton, from Wrington. I had to t a l k my way onto a Navy 

c r a f t , t o approach the s e a l e d s h i p s to take me to the s e a l e d s h i p 

F l o t i l l a , i n Southampton Bay. Then I had to c o n v i n c e the 

Commander t h e r e to r e p e a t h i s s t a r t e x a c t l y 24-hours l a t e r . Then 

I had t o r e t u r n to my s h i p , a l s o , b e f o r e our anchor was p u l l e d 

up. 4 3 % o f a l l o f those men were Los t . The next morning almost 

a l l o f t h e i r frogmen, who swam i n and had b l a s t e d the beach 

o b s t a c l e s , never r e t u r n e d to t h e i r f l o t i l l a , or were never found 

a l i v e on the beach. 

Number s i x , somewhere i n the process we c o n f u s e d the 

pro c e d u r e f o r g e t t i n g the m a n i f e s t that showed what m a t e r i a l s 

were i n which of the f i v e decks, of which of the f i v e h o l d s on 

which s h i p , i n our huge f l o t i l l a of cargo s h i p s , o f f the beaches 

at Omaha beachhead. Those r e c o r d s were c a l l e d " M a n i f e s t s of the 

Sh i p L o a d i n g . " Each s u p p l y s h i p s h o u l d have had a m a n i f e s t 

l i s t i n g of what items were on each of 5 decks o f each of 5 h o l d s , 

but none had such a m a n i f e s t , which d i d e x i s t ! The s h i p s were 

not " a t anchor" because of danger of submarines and they wanted 

to be a b l e to move i n a h u r r y , j u s t i n case. I f h i t , they might 

come ashore w h i l e s t i l l s i n k i n g and ground, to save the 

merchandise. The items were c r i t i c a l and o f co u r s e we f e a r e d 

d e p l e t i n g c e r t a i n c r i t i c a l s u p p l i e s , c e r t a i n t ypes o f ammunition, 

medic s u p p l i e s , t h i n g s o f t h i s s o r t . And, i t was a f f e c t i n g us 

s e r i o u s l y because g o i n g a f t e r c r i t i c a l s u p p l i e s , we would go to a 

s h i p , u n l o a d the top s e v e r a l decks o f the f i v e h o l d s , take what 
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was n e c e s s a r y , and put the r e s t on the deck of the s h i p , then run 

out o f deck space, and then s t a r t t h r o w i n g the good merchandise 

over the s i d e to make room to d i g i n f o r the c r i t i c a l s u p p l i e s . 

T h i s was, o f c o u r s e , a v e r y s e r i o u s s i n o f s u p p l y , and i t was to 

the a t t e n t i o n o f the Beach Master G e n e r a l . I t was to the 

a t t e n t i o n o f my A d m i r a l . And my A d m i r a l on D p l u s 2 d e c i d e d to 

send me ashore. I was a l r e a d y g o i n g ashore. He sent me ashore 

to take c a r e o f the problem by g o i n g over to the Beach Mas t e r 

G e n e r a l and t e l l i n g him, "Yes, s i r , j u s t a moment, I ' l l get a 

p i e c e o f paper and p e n c i l . " "No, L i e u t e n a n t , you won't have any 

w r i t t e n r e c o r d . " "Uh, oh!" I thought q u i e t l y as I r e a l i z e d i t 

was something t h a t s h o u l d n ' t be happening, and so I p a i d 

a t t e n t i o n , e x a c t l y , and went i n a s h o r e . In a d d i t i o n to my o t h e r 

d u t i e s , I went ashore and saw the Beach Master (Engineer) G e n e r a l 

and e x p l a i n e d the A d m i r a l ' s p o s i t i o n as to why the G e n e r a l was 

r e s p o n s i b l e f o r those " M i s s i n g M a n i f e s t s " t h a t were w a s t i n g our 

t o t a l e f f o r t . And, the G e n e r a l e x p l a i n e d to me, v e r y c a r e f u l l y , 

v e r y m e t h o d i c a l l y , why i t was the Navy's problem to get those 

M a n i f e s t s over to us to p i c k and choose from which s h i p and which 

h o l d and which deck. And I would b r i n g t h i s reworded message 

back and f o r t h . T h i s went on u n t i l D p l u s 11, when I f i n a l l y got 

the chance t o go o v e r b o a r d and l e a v e because the Army 

Headquarters had moved as h o r e . 

I was b e i n g sent back t o England. W e l l , we d i d n ' t have 

p e r m i s s i o n t o l e a v e the t h e a t e r o f combat due to a n o t h e r f a i l u r e 

o f communication. So, I a u t h o r i z e d a PT s t y l e runner boat, when 
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I no l o n g e r was i n a p o s i t i o n t o a u t h o r i z e i t , and we went back 

to E ngland and I got on the t e l e p h o n e . I c a l l e d e v e r y i n v a s i o n 

h a r b o r from memory, as I had not planned ahead to do t h i s i l l e g a l 

c o r r e c t i o n o f G e n e r a l Grade O f f i c e r s ' g r o s s wastage of men and 

m a t e r i a l s . I " a u t h o r i z e d " each duty o f f i c e r on duty t h a t n i g h t . 

I t took me from 6:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. s t a n d i n g i n the B r i t i s h 

t e l e p h o n e booth. And, I had each of them f l y over the m i s s i n g 

M a n i f e s t through a C a p t a i n w i t h a P i p e r Cub I knew i n England. 

Which the C a p t a i n d i d , and they got t h e r e . So, I got the 

" M i s s i n g M a n i f e s t " flown over to a f i e l d , j u s t above the Beach 

Ma s t e r . I had him f l y over once a day, at noon time, and to take 

a l l o f today's "A" copy and a l l of y e s t e r d a y ' s "B" c o p i e s w i t h 

him each day. And the "C" copy (which they d i d n ' t have, and they 

had to make up, o v e r n i g h t , by hand), I o r d e r e d the " C s " to be 

kept on hand a t each harbor, i n case they were c a l l e d f o r , due to 

a m i s s i n g l i t t l e P i p e r Cub a i r p l a n e . 

The p i l o t was a C a p t a i n i n the new T r a n s p o r t a t i o n Corps. In 

my new d u t i e s , I had met him and remembered how to phone him. A 

year l a t e r , he and I were i n an a l l - o f f i c e r photo, on the s t e p s 

of the Rheims C a t h e d r a l , i n one noontime, f o r our photographs. 

He was up from C a p t a i n , p a s t Major, to L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l . He 

knew me, c a l l e d my a t t e n t i o n t o h i m s e l f , and the m i s s i n g 

M a n i f e s t s , and d i s a p p e a r e d i n the crowd. I was a " F i e l d 

I n s p e c t o r f o r the O f f i c e o f the I n s p e c t o r G e n e r a l , " which c a l l e d 

f o r a M a j o r i t y , but I was s t i l l a L i e u t e n a n t i n the S i g n a l Corps. 

I got my n o t i c e t o go home t h a t a f t e r n o o n . A p p a r e n t l y our Beach 
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M a s t e r G e n e r a l had g i v e n him a f i e l d promotion from C a p t a i n to 

L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l when he brought over the " M i s s i n g M a n i f e s t s . " 

I was r u n n i n g away, i n h i d i n g , because I had counted up 

e i g h t e e n c o u r t m a r t i a l charges a g a i n s t me, f o r d o i n g what I d i d 

to get the j o b done, t h a t e i t h e r the A d m i r a l , or the G e n e r a l , 

c o u l d have done by p i c k i n g up the r a d i o phone and s a y i n g "Get 

those t h i n g s over here. I don't c a r e how you do i t , but get them 

over here and you c a l l me back i n a c o u p l e of hours and t e l l me 

what you proceeded to do, and you c a l l me back every few hours 

u n t i l you get them h e r e . " He c o u l d have done t h a t . E i t h e r the 

A d m i r a l or the G e n e r a l c o u l d have done t h a t . N e i t h e r one was 

g o i n g to do i t because they were blaming each o t h e r . T h i s was a 

p e r s o n a l f i g h t between [an] Army Ge n e r a l and [a) Navy A d m i r a l who 

d e t e s t e d each o t h e r because they had met on a harbor somewhere 

e l s e . The A d m i r a l o u t r a n k e d the G e n e r a l , i n promotion, and 

t h e r e f o r e they had h a t e d each o t h e r because the Harbor Master 

G e n e r a l t o l d the A d m i r a l where the A d m i r a l was g o i n g to dock h i s 

s h i p and the A d m i r a l s a i d , " I am not going to f o l l o w your o r d e r s , 

I am i n charge here. I am d o c k i n g where I want t o . " They never 

r e s o l v e d the argument, i f t h a t was t h e i r o n l y one, which they 

were c a r r y i n g t h i s argument on. 

I t was c o s t i n g us b l o o d and men because c r i t i c a l h o s p i t a l 

s u p p l i e s were s h o r t . C r i t i c a l ammunition f o r c e r t a i n weapons 

were s h o r t . Sure i t was m i s s i n g , we ran out. And so whether 

they knew i t o r not, I knew the s e t h i n g s were c r i t i c a l i n the 

s h o r t a g e . F i n a l l y , 3 - s t a r G e n e r a l B r a d l e y spoke. G e n e r a l 
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B r a d l e y complained to 4 - s t a r Ike and a whole two days l a t e r , 

a c c o r d i n g t o G e n e r a l B r a d l e y ' s book "A S o l d i e r ' s S t o r y , " Ike 

answered w i t h , "Someone had b e t t e r perform, or he's g o i n g to be 

w i t h o u t a j o b . " Which meant t h a t the General Eisenhower was 

ready t o r e l i e v e from duty a G e n e r a l grade o f f i c e r , or more, f o r 

not g e t t i n g those M a n i f e s t s over here. I never a d m i t t e d i t , 

u n t i l l o n g a f t e r the war was over, t h a t I had a hand i n i t . 

G e n e r a l B r a d l e y ' s book t e l l s how i t ended: "Suddenly the M a n i f e s t 

came through w i t h o u t e x p l a n a t i o n or a p o l o g i e s . " I wasn't about 

to e x p l a i n or to a p o l o g i z e . I c o u l d have been shot i f i t had 

gone wrong, and those odds were 18:1 a g a i n s t me. 

However, t h e r e are a l o t more t h i n g s t h a t went on t h e r e t h a t 

I c o u l d t e l l about, l e t me t h i n k of them. One of the o t h e r , of 

the f o u r of us o f f i c e r s , was a l i m i t e d assignment C a p t a i n i n the 

Rangers. He had been i n j u r e d and c o u l d not be an a c t i v e Ranger 

anymore. H i s e x p e r t i s e was i n Rangers. On D-Day a f t e r n o o n , he 

got a h o l d o f me and t o l d me of the h i g h c a s u a l t i e s t h e r e of the 

Rangers. And they needed, amongst o t h e r t h i n g s , more handy 

t a l k i e s , a l o t more b a t t e r i e s , and I had to go get them. So I 

d i d . And he t o l d me t h a t n i g h t , when he came back, "75 o f them 

are dead." U n n e c e s s a r i l y , of c o u r s e . 

Then my d u t i e s on the l i a i s o n s t a f f ended up as me b e i n g the 

a d j u t a n t which c a l l e d f o r a m a j o r i t y p o s i t i o n i n the A d j u t a n t 

G e n e r a l D i v i s i o n as G - l , and I was a L i e u t e n a n t i n the S i g n a l 

Corps. I was a l s o a s s i s t a n t G-3, which i s P l a n s and T r a i n i n g . 

A l s o , a t the same time, I was a s s i s t a n t G-4, which c a l l e d f o r 
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a n o t h e r C a p t a i n c y i n T r a n s p o r t Q u a r t e r m a s t e r Corps, s h i p l o a d i n g 

and so f o r t h . Amongst o t h e r t h i n g s I had had a 9-foot model of a 

LST, L a n d i n g S h i p Tank, w i t h a l l of the exact s c a l e models, 

r e p l i c a s , o f a l l the d e r r i c k s , c r a n e s , t r u c k s , v e h i c l e s of a l l 

k i n d s , s a l v a g e equipment, v e h i c l e s , o f a l l the j e e p s , and 2 X 

4's, 4 X 4's, and so on. And i n the p r e p a r a t i o n p l a n s , f o r many 

weeks, I worked on those, p u t t i n g i n where each v e h i c l e would be. 

I had t o r o l l them up onto the e l e v a t o r and s h i f t them up to the 

deck and to put them on where they m e c h a n i c a l l y c o u l d be, and not 

i n the way o f o t h e r v e h i c l e s to move i n and out. And then I 

would get through one bunch a f t e r another, knowing e x a c t l y what 

they had and an o t h e r o r d e r would come a l o n g to my l i a i s o n s t a f f 

s a y i n g such and such a LST, one which I had a l r e a d y worked on, 

was r e s e r v i n g a c i r c l e of twenty f e e t around f o r such and such a 

gun t h a t was b e i n g put on the top deck. Or two of those guns. 

Then I would have to go back and r e a r r a n g e a l l the l o a d i n g f o r 

t h a t top deck a g a i n . That 9-foot model of a LST, which i s the 

Land i n g S h i p Tank, which i s the l a r g e l a n d i n g s h i p t h a t had two 

doors t h a t opened i n the f r o n t . And v e h i c l e s can d r i v e out over 

the ramp onto the shore, and the e l e v a t o r s take them from the top 

deck down t o the lower deck, and so f o r t h . When I brought t h a t 

9-foot l o n g LST back to the o r i g i n a l top s e c r e t N-2, Navy 

I n t e l l i g e n c e , l o c a t i o n , I brought i n on the j e e p , a l l by m y s e l f , 

as I was b r i n g i n g i t i n t o the G-2, which was r e s t r i c t e d t o BIGOT 

c a r d h o l d e r s , t o t h e i r i n t e l l i g e n c e room. 

Then, I saw my A d m i r a l and f o u r o t h e r A d m i r a l s s t a n d i n g over 
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t h e r e , by a l a n d i n g ramp, about 7 5 - f e e t away. They d i d not pay 

any a t t e n t i o n t o me. Nobody e l s e was around, j u s t f i v e A d m i r a l s . 

Where were t h e i r a i d e s ? A d m i r a l s don't a s s o c i a t e w i t h o t h e r 

A d m i r a l s w i t h o u t t h e i r a i d e s . Wow, I thought, t h i s i s something 

u n u s u a l . Here they are over towards the water. I c o u l d see out 

over the water. So, I t r i e d my motor, and d e l i b e r a t e l y t r i e d the 

s t a r t e r w i t h o u t the key t u r n e d , and i t would not work. So I then 

had an excuse to open the hood of my j e e p . And I d i d get around 

i n d i f f e r e n t p o s i t i o n s i n the jeep and th e r e b y watch the f i v e 

A d m i r a l s , w h i l e p r e t e n d i n g to work on my jee p . And I c o u l d hear 

them. They were l i n i n g up and moving back and f o r t h , and "When 

do you r a n k ? " " A p r i l 3." " W e l l , I'm A p r i l the 4 ." "Oh w e l l , 

then we w i l l change p o s i t i o n s . " They change p o s i t i o n s , two of 

them, f o r one day o f rank! In o t h e r words, they were l i n i n g up 

by rank, no A d m i r a l ' s a i d e s w i t h them, nobody e l s e around, and 

they are s t a n d i n g i n a l i n e g o i n g out towards the water, f a c i n g 
„ , , i o . . ~> - ] — i . . i - - , • • • , * : • , • - , .••1 -> , I. r ~ m 1 

the beach. I t lo w e r s the ramp and out walks t h i s A d m i r a l , whom I 

then r e c o g n i z e d as the B r i t i s h K i n g , George VI was i t . And 

th e r e was a grand s a l u t e by these A d m i r a l s o f each o t h e r , and 

then K i n g George came a l o n g , gave a s i n g u l a r s a l u t e w i t h the 1st 

A d m i r a l , then shook h i s hand, s a i d something of "God b l e s s you 

and God b l e s s your men." And went to the next A d m i r a l and went 

through the same p r o c e d u r e s , t u r n e d around, went back towards the 

l a n d i n g c r a f t . S t o o d a g a i n , f a c e d them, t h e y a l l s a l u t e d each 

o t h e r , the K i n g t u r n e d , went up the ramp, got i n t o the c r a f t . 
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The ramp went up, the c r a f t p u l l e d away and, by c o i n c i d e n c e , I 

t r i e d my motor and i t s t a r t e d p e r f e c t l y . I saw a s m a l l touch o f 

h i s t o r y t h a t nobody e l s e saw. J u s t f o r my p o i n t of amusement. 

When I was g o i n g to get the r o c k e t l a u n c h e r s and frogmen to 

s a i l a g a i n , 24-hours a f t e r the f a l s e s t a r t c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l , 

two l i t t l e i n c i d e n t s , w e l l maybe t h r e e . I was over an hour on 

the l a n d i n g c r a f t g o i n g out to the Southampton f l o t i l l a and I was 

down on the bottom. The n o i s e s p r e v e n t e d my s h o u t i n g to the two 

s a i l o r s whom I t a l k e d i n t o an i l l e g a l t r i p to the " s e a l e d 

f l o t i l l a . " When I c r a w l e d up the ramp to look out to see where 

we were, I s l i p p e d down. Those are 1-inch square t r e a d c l e a t s 

a l l the way a c r o s s . I had got up p r e t t y h i g h to t r y to look over 

the top to see where we were because I c o u l d n ' t t a l k to those two 

s a i l o r s up on the top deck. The n o i s e was too much from down 

where I was, where v e h i c l e s were hidden from view from the 

d i s t a n c e . I t was 8-foot w a l l s t h e r e . So I c l i m b e d up t h e r e and 

s u r e enough, on the next wave I s l i d down and t o r e both knees 

open, and had scabs on both knees and t o r n t r o u s e r s from t h a t 

one. We got over to the f l o t i l l a and the s a i l o r s s a i d , " I t ' s 

k i n d o f rough. We c a n ' t t i e you up over t h e r e . But w e ' l l swing 

by and you can jump o v e r . " I s a i d , " F i n e , get me a l i f e j a c k e t , 

i n case I f a l l down." " W e l l , we have o n l y got two l i f e j a c k e t s 

and we're r e q u i r e d to wear these o u r s e l v e s . We c a n ' t g i v e you 

any o f t h e s e , but w e ' l l go by as many times as you want, u n t i l 

you want t o jump." 
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By t h i s time, the h e a d q u a r t e r s s h i p , w i t h the Commander on 

i t , whom I knew, was w a t c h i n g us, wondering what was g o i n g on. 

They were i n a s t a t e o f f r i g h t . T e r r i b l e f r i g h t , they had gone 

thr o u g h . I had bought a newspaper, e n r o u t e , because the mud from 

the road t h a t was c o v e r e d w i t h t r a c k d i s p l a c e d mud onto the road, 

and the r a i n was c a u s i n g a mud s l i c k and the jeep was j u s t 

s u c k i n g i n these p a r t i c l e s , drops of mud on the i n s i d e of my 

w i n d s h i e l d and mucking t h a t up and I needed some paper to wipe i t 

o f f w i t h . And I used some of i t around my r a i n c o a t to save the 

mud g e t t i n g on my r a i n c o a t . 3o I had t h i s newspaper s t u f f e d i n 

my pocket and they were a s k i n g me q u e s t i o n s b e f o r e I jumped. 

"Is the i n v a s i o n on? Is the i n v a s i o n on? Is the i n v a s i o n s t i l l 

on?" By t h i s time T-jumped over, I s a i d , " E v e r y t h i n g i s okay, 

e v e r y t h i n g i s okay." "What's okay?" I r e a l i z e d they d i d n ' t have 

b r o a d c a s t r e c e i v i n g r a d i o s . So they c o u l d n ' t l i s t e n to those, 

and because they were a f r a i d of r a d i a t i o n , In those days, from 

r e c e i v e r s t h a t would a l e r t an enemy. A v e r y s l i m chance but... 

So, I e x p l a i n e d e v e r y t h i n g . 

"Do you have enough f u e l to do the same t r i p 24-hours l a t e r , 

which i s s t a r t i n g v e r y soon?" "Yes, we do." "Did you get the 

c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l , you must have or you d i d n ' t s t a r t . " "We 

s t a r t e d , but we got a c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l . " "Do you have enough 

f u e l ? " "Yes." "Okay, so e v e r y t h i n g i s a l l s e t . You can take 

o f f 24-hours l a t e r . E v e r y t h i n g i s s t i l l g o i n g . " " W e l l , " the 

commander s a y s , "you j u s t c a n ' t l e a v e y e t . " I s a i d , "Why not, I 

am i n a h u r r y , I have t o get back t h e r e . I go on my s h i p t o o , 
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you know." "No," he says, "you ca n ' t l e a v e w i t h o u t g o i n g down t o 

s i c k bay. You do need to go to s i c k bay." I s a i d , "Why do I need 

to go?" "Because our o p e r a t o r i s down t h e r e . " "What o p e r a t o r ? " 

"Our r a d i o o p e r a t o r . " "What?" "He's the man t h a t got the 

c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l . We had been b a d g e r i n g him, i n c e s s a n t l y , 

almost f o r 24-hours now, and d i d he r e c o g n i z e the s i g n a l ? Was i t 

the same s i g n a l s t r e n g t h as u s u a l ? Was i t , d i d i t , have the 

' f i s t ' q u a l i t y t h a t r a d i o o p e r a t o r s r e c o g n i z e ? Was i t at the 

speed you would expect i t to be a t ? Was i t e x a c t l y on the 

frequency? Was t h e r e any c l u e t h a t i t might be an enemy t r i c k ? 

I f we are over here and the o p e r a t i o n i s goi n g on over t h e r e , we 

are a l l i n t r o u b l e . We a l l are goi n g to be c o u r t - m a r t i a l e d . " 

They had w o r r i e d t h i s r a d i o o p e r a t o r s i c k , i n t o bed, and he 

c o n t i n u e d to i n s i s t t h a t he was r i g h t . That he d i d : He 

r e c o g n i z e d the c o r r e c t c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l . He was not d o i n g i t 

to escape g o i n g i n t o combat, and so on. And I had to come down 

th e r e and t e l l t h a t r a d i o o p e r a t o r , p e r s o n a l l y , t h a t he had done 

the r i g h t t h i n g and t h a t I was proud of him, and L was. And I 

shook h i s hand. When I got down t h e r e , he was p a l e w h i t e , l y i n g 

f l a t on h i s back on a bed. T o t a l l y exhausted. And b e f o r e I 

l e f t , about 60 seconds l a t e r , he was s t a n d i n g up and had some 

c o l o r i n h i s f a c e and was t r y i n g to s m i l e , through t e a r s of 

s a t i s f a c t i o n . 

Then on the way back, I was under o r d e r s , "There are p e o p l e 

who know who you are and where you work and e v e r y t h i n g e l s e . We 

don't know, and so have you got a g i r l f r i e n d ? " "Yes." "Do you 
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know where she i s ? " "Yes." "Can you s t o p i n t o her house, p u t t e r 

around, take the hood up, check w i t h something, check the engine 

a g a i n , so t h a t you can get the ne i g h b o r s to watch you. Make a 

l i t t l e n o i s e out t h e r e . Slam the hood, then go up r i n g the 

d o o r b e l l . " So, I d i d . I f a l s e rung the d o o r b e l l a co u p l e of 

times t o waste some more time and then rung the d o o r b e l l . And 

they came. They l e t me i n . "How's e v e r y t h i n g g o i n g ? " Oh f i n e . 

" I s t h i s the b i g o p e r a t i o n ? " " I don't know. We go through these 

t h i n g s a l l the tim e . Radio s i l e n c e s , a l l t h a t type of t h i n g . " 

So over a p e r i o d of time, I Let the g i r l ' s f a t h e r , who was 

t h e r e , argue me i n t o the i d e a t h a t t h i s was a l l a b i g fake and i t 

was to s c a r e H i t l e r , and H i t l e r would be s c a r e d , now, and back 

down and g i v e up i n the war. F i n a l l y , I l e t him c o n v i n c e me t h a t 

t h i s was what was goi n g on, and then I lo o k e d at my watch, 

knowingly, and s a i d , " I ' d b e t t e r l e a v e now. They are e x p e c t i n g 

me b e f o r e s u p p e r , " or something or o t h e r . So I l e f t , and t a l k e d 

my way back on the " s e a l e d " s h i p a g a i n . The s h i p s were a l l 

" s e a l e d . " I t a l k e d my way o f f . I t a l k e d my way on back and 

f o r t h . I had to be a salesman to do t h a t , b e l i e v e me, when the 

s h i p s a re s e a l e d , they are s e a l e d . Even the A d m i r a l , e s p e c i a l l y 

the A d m i r a l , c o u l d not l e a v e h i s " s e a l e d s h i p . " I got on the 

s h i p a g a i n when they were p u l l i n g the n o i s y anchor up. They were 

ready t o l e a v e w i t h o u t me. 

And we soon were headed to Omaha beachhead. Towards dark 

which was a f t e r 9:00 Double B r i t i s h Summer Time, but up n o r t h . I 

wandered o f f on the f r o n t o f the s h i p . I t was a c o n v e r t e d 
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l u x u r y s h i p , Panama L i n e s . I t was V-made f o r the Navy f o r a 

Headquarter S h i p . We had a 5 - i n c h gun on the f r o n t , somewhere. 

Now, I was up on the f r o n t bow, and I saw them move the gun 

around. I thought, w e l l , they are g o i n g to p r a c t i c e . So I went 

over and went down. I f i g u r e d I would walk a l o n g the s i d e of the 

s h i p away from the gun. I walked down t h e r e aways, and they 

aimed t h i s gun h i g h i n t o the f r o n t forward, away from the l a n d , 

and f i r e d i t . 

I t t u r n e d out to be a t a r g e t f l a i r , w i t h a p a r a c h u t e as an 

e l e v a t e d t a r g e t . And then, as we moved a l o n g , we were go i n g to 

pass o f f to one s i d e of t h a t , they a g a i n f i r e d t h i s gun at t h a t 

t a r g e t . Oh, the c o n c u s s i o n s of t h a t f l a s h . You see, the b i g 

f l a s h coming out was c l o s e to me, so I moved back, and come to 

f i n d out t h a t avenue of r e t r e a t a l o n g the s i d e of the s h i p was 

c l o s e d o f f , because of the c o n f l i c t i n g d e s i g n . I c o u l d o n l y go 

back so f a r and they kept on f i r i n g at t h i s t a r g e t u n t i l they 

t u r n e d the gun p r a c t i c a l l y 90 degrees o f f the s i d e of the s h i p , 

and I was g e t t i n g t h i s b l a s t . 

I remember the c o n c u s s i o n was such t h a t I was b e a t i n g my 

f i s t s upon the b u l k head, r a t h e r than p r o p e r l y p r o t e c t i n g my ears 

from the b l a s t . The c o n c u s s i o n does shake up the nervous system 

and i t does d i s t r a c t you from normal f u n c t i o n s . That was easy 

compared t o what the m o r t a r b l a s t s were f o r the men i n the 

i n f a n t r y , o f c o u r s e . I went to bed and, of c o u r s e , everybody e l s e 

had been on " s e a l e d s h i p s " f o r s e v e r a l days by t h i s t i m e . They 

had caught up on t h e i r s l e e p and I hadn't v e r y w e l l . The 
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i n v a s i o n s t a r t e d around 4 or 5 o ' c l o c k i n the morning, I woke up 

about 7:00 i n the morning. I was p r o b a b l y the o n l y p e r s o n a s l e e p 

on any Omaha beachhead s h i p a t 7:00 i n t h a t morning. And I had 

been t h e o n l y one out working the day b e f o r e . George was o f t e n 

the odd one. 

So we had a l l k i n d s o f l i t t l e p roblems. We had an e x e c u t i v e 

o f f i c e r t h e r e who was a v e r y good man, who got caught i n a s e x u a l 

compromise by the B r i t i s h p o l i c e , and n o t h i n g was done about i t . 

We c o u l d not a f f o r d t o get r i d o f him. V e r y good man. A y e a r 

e a r l i e r , my recommendation i n my combat r e p o r t i n A f r i c a was f o r 

a b e t t e r a s s a u l t communication company, which became the J o i n t 

A s s a u l t S i g n a l Company, JASCOs, as I mentioned. And i t had my 

name hung on i t , as some Major 20 m i l e s away i n A f r i c a , mentioned 

i t t o a L i e u t e n a n t , who had been a former Sergeant o f mine. And 

t h a t L i e u t e n a n t brought the s t o r y t o me t o f i n d out, "What was 

th e J o i n t A s s a u l t S i g n a l Company." Then t h a t Major, the Army 

S i g n a l O f f i c e r w i t h our 6 t h F l e e t , d i d not want t o get h i s 

o p p o r t u n i t y t o go up t o England because he was i n a p o s i t i o n t o 

get a p r o m o t i o n where he was. I t p r o b a b l y wouldn't be so easy up 

i n E n g l a n d . So he s a i d , "You're q u a l i f i e d t o do b e t t e r t h a n I am 

i n t h i s j o b , why don't you take i t ? " He gave me time t o f i g u r e 

i t out and my C a p t a i n s a i d , "Sure, George, a n y t h i n g you want t o 

do, you have been good w i t h me, I w i l l be good w i t h you," and 

away I went. Up t o England, and I i m m e d i a t e l y came down w i t h t h e 

m a l a r i a , one more ti m e . E v e n t u a l l y the s h i p ' s d o c t o r s a i d , "You 

have been s l e e p i n g here except when we wake you up f o r your meals 
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and one more time t o go t o the bathroom, the next time i n a n o t h e r 

month o r so, when i t g e t s you one o f t h e s e mornings, you j u s t 

won't wake up." U n l e s s you can f i n d a c u r e . I d i d some i n q u i r i n g 

f o r 10 minutes and between the two o f us, we worked up a 

p l a u s i b l e c u r e . I t r i e d i t . My m a l a r i a was coming about e v e r y 4 

weeks, t h e n . I t worked and I never had m a l a r i a a g a i n . I t c o s t 

13 c e n t s . I t was a p r o c e d u r e type o f c u r e . Q u i t e s i m p l e . There 

are o v e r 2 m i l l i o n p e o p l e a year who d i e o f m a l a r i a . But no one 

w i l l l i s t e n t o me because I don't have any d o c t o r s ' degrees. Nor 

are t h e r e o t h e r m a l a r i a cases around t h i s p a r t o f New York s t a t e . 

I t i s t y p i c a l o f many problems today. I have been a p r a c t i c i n g 

n u t r i t i o n i s t . I v e r y r e c e n t l y l e a r n e d t h a t my m a l a r i a cure i s a 

p a t e n t a b l e "method" i n v e n t i o n . 

Now, back t o Omaha beachhead. The s t r u c t u r e t h a t I j o i n e d , 

f o r Omaha 5 months b e f o r e D-Day, was s u p p o s e d l y 15 o f f i c e r s . One 

v e r s i o n was w i t h a S e n i o r C o l o n e l , 4 L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l s , and 10 

more o f M a j o r s and C a p t a i n s . These are g e n e r a l s t a f f c o r p s t o 

r e p r e s e n t the Army t o the Navy and the A i r f o r c e and o t h e r 

n a t i o n a l i t i e s i n the J o i n t Communication Room. There were t h r e e 

v i s u a l s c r e e n s t h e r e , one f o r each o f these s e r v i c e s , and t h e s e 

s c r e e n messages would pass o f f the s c r e e n but t h e y would a l s o be 

p r i n t e d out and l a i d out on a s t a c k a c c u m u l a t i n g , and so e v e r y 

s i x hours each l i a i s o n o f f i c e r i s supposed t o be i n t h e r e and 

c a t c h up on a l l o f the l a s t communications s c r e e n s : Army, Navy 

and A i r f o r c e . Army on the l e f t , Navy i n the m i d d l e , and o f 

c o u r s e , A i r Force o f f t o the r i g h t s i d e . We d i d n ' t have those 15 
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o f f i c e r s i n the f i r s t p l a c e . We had one L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l who 

l e f t us and j o i n e d the 1 s t D i v i s i o n t o go i n . That l e f t us w i t h 

a M a j o r George P e r i s h and two o t h e r C a p t a i n s , one i n 

Q u a r t e r m a s t e r and one as a Ranger (who got a p r o m o t i o n when I 

d i d , but our A d m i r a l d i d not deny h i s as he d i d mine, because the 

A d m i r a l " d i d not want too much Army around"), who were supposed 

to do p l a n s and t r a i n i n g and t r a n s p o r t q u a r t e r m a s t e r work, and I 

was an a s s i s t a n t t o each o f t h o s e and so I f i l l e d t hose two 

C a p t a i n c y v a c a n c i e s and, as the a d j u n c t p e r s o n n e l G - l , I was 

supposed t o be a M a j o r . I was n o t . 

In p r e p a r a t i o n months, i n a d d i t i o n t o my o t h e r d u t i e s , I was 

supposed t o go ashore from the s h i p . We were anchored i n the 

bay. We were too b i g t o dock t h e r e . So, o c c a s i o n a l l y , I went 

ash o r e . I brought i n the C o l o n e l s and the A d m i r a l s and t h e 

G e n e r a l s and I get them to the r i g h t o f f i c e on the s h i p and get 

them back and f o r t h . I remember one time I was r u n n i n g around . 

w i t h t h e u s u a l l o n g l i s t o f t h i n g s t o do, and I was a l r e a d y h a l f ­

way t h r o u g h , o r so, a l l the way t o "E," and the M a j o r s a i d , 

"George, where d i d you put the G e n e r a l ? I c a n ' t f i n d the 

G e n e r a l . " I s a i d , "Oh, w e l l , he's down here a t H on the l i s t I 

am o n l y t o F. I w i l l get t o him p r e t t y soon." "Wait a m i n u t e , " 

he shouted, "you have got a G e n e r a l . He has been w a i t i n g . Look 

at the t i m e . He has been w a i t i n g t h r e e hours on the dock. I ' l l 

get the G e n e r a l . No! H e ' l l be mad as h e l l . Drop e v e r y t h i n g . 

G i v e me t h a t l i s t and you go get the G e n e r a l . " I got over t o get 

the G e n e r a l a t the dock and he s a i d , " I am s o r r y t o see you come. 
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I was h a v i n g such a good r e l a x a t i o n h e r e . N o t h i n g t o l o o k a t 

but sea g u l l s and the wind and the waves. I t was so r e l a x i n g . No 

phone c a l l s , no q u e s t i o n s t o answer. I am s o r r y you came so 

soon. You s h o u l d have s t a y e d away a l i t t l e l o n g e r . " I had 

e x p l a i n e d t o him t h a t I was r e g r e t f u l l y l a t e because I was so 

burdened down. 

One o f the o t h e r f o o l i s h t h i n g s t h a t happened one day on the 

s h i p . I t was an a i r - c o n d i t i o n e d s h i p , n e c e s s a r i l y , and the o r d e r 

was o u t , from the A d m i r a l , t h a t , " A l l O f f i c e r s o f T h i s Command 

w i l l Wear B l o u s e s Today. Very i m p o r t a n t p e r s o n , VIP, e x p e c t e d 

a b o a r d ; " w h i c h had n o t h i n g t o do w i t h me d i r e c t l y . So the 

C o l o n e l and I were w o r k i n g on something and the a i r - c o n d i t i o n i n g 

went out o f f u n c t i o n . I t got h o t . The C o l o n e l took h i s b l o u s e 

o f f and hung i t up on some l i t t l e hook up t h e r e . W e l l , I was way 

j u n i o r t o the L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l as a L i e u t e n a n t , and so I took 

my b l o u s e o f f and hung i t up. And s u r e enough, a few minutes 

l a t e r , i n comes the A d m i r a l . He l o o k s back and f o r t h between t h e 

two o f us, i n t r o d u c e s me, as the C o l o n e l , t o G e n e r a l Montgomery, 

commanding o f f i c e r o f the B r i t i s h f o r c e s , and then he i n t r o d u c e d 

the C o l o n e l , as me, t o Ge n e r a l Montgomery and they b o t h stomped 

out o f t h e room. And, of co u r s e , my C o l o n e l was f u r i o u s , f i t t o 

be t i e d . I d i d not dare say a t h i n g b e f o r e , d u r i n g or a f t e r the 

i n c i d e n t . One l i t t l e f o o l i s h n e s s as i t happened t h a t I remember. 

T h i s may have h e l p e d the C o l o n e l t o d e c i d e t o t r a n s f e r t o the 

1 s t D i v i s i o n , which was g o i n g i n f i r s t . He l e f t , soon. 
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A n o t h e r t i m e , t h e r e were o n l y two c h a i r s i n our l i t t l e 

o f f i c e , w h i c h was p r o b a b l y 8 f e e t by 12 f e e t . I t had a stand-up 

desk a t one s i d e , f o r working on l a r g e p i e c e s o f paper, c h a r t s , 

diagrams. On the o t h e r s i d e t h e r e were two s e a t s , a bench, some 

s l i d i n g bookcase, s l i d i n g doors type, c h a r t s and t a b l e s and a l l 

t h a t s o r t o f t h i n g , maps, f i l e s and so on. And j u s t the two 

c h a i r s t h e r e . So as I came i n one day, t h e r e was someone s i t t i n g 

i n one c h a i r w i t h h i s back t o me, and as I got c l o s e r the s h i n y 

t h i n g s t u r n e d out t o be t h r e e s t a r s , on each s h o u l d e r . W e l l , I 

can r e c o g n i z e a L i e u t e n a n t G e n e r a l . And so I slumped, I f i g u r e d 

he doesn't want t o jump up or do a n y t h i n g , so I j u s t s l i d i n t o 

the c h a i r n e x t t o him and s a i d , "Good a f t e r n o o n , s i r , what b r i n g s 

you h e r e ? " "Oh," he s a i d . (Of c o u r s e I r e c o g n i z e d him, he was 

G e n e r a l Omar B r a d l e y . ) He s a i d , " I brought my team over t o see 

how your team i s g o i n g t o be f u n c t i o n i n g . I don't want my team 

a s k i n g you t o do t h i n g s t h a t you ca n ' t do. And I do want my team 

to ask you t o do t h i n g s t h a t they know t h a t you can do b e t t e r . 

So t h e y have t o be over here and see what your l i m i t a t i o n s and 

q u a l i f i c a t i o n s a r e . They are i n the nex t room l e a r n i n g a l l t h o s e 

good t h i n g s . " And, o f co u r s e , I had t o s i n c e r e l y compliment him 

on b e i n g so th o r o u g h . And then we d i s c u s s e d o t h e r i m p o r t a n t 

t h i n g s l i k e what a n i c e day i t was, and soon i t was time f o r him 

to go. And, o f c o u r s e , I s t o o d up and s m i l e d as he l e f t . He was 

one o f our g r e a t G e n e r a l s . A l l i n a l l , i n f o u r y e a r s , I had 

o f f i c i a l c o n v e r s a t i o n s w i t h e i g h t e e n g e n e r a l grade o f f i c e r s , 

i n c l u d i n g a M a r i n e g e n e r a l (who used me as h i s o n l y a i d e f o r our 

23 



3-day t r i p t o see the newly d e v e l o p e d weapons, r o c k e t s , d e v e l o p e d 

s e c r e t l y by the U n i v e r s i t y o f C a l i f o r n i a . He l i k e d my t e c h n i c a l 

s i m p l i f i c a t i o n s . ) , a French g e n e r a l , s e v e r a l A d m i r a l s , and I had 

a few words here and t h e r e w i t h them, and l i k e s e e i n g and h e a r i n g 

G e n e r a l Montgomery, and the K i n g o f England, and so f o r t h . 

There would be d i f f e r e n t o f f i c e r s coming i n , w i t h mud on 

t h e i r combat b o o t s , and t h e r e I was i n d r e s s t r o u s e r s , low 

q u a r t e r s h i n e d shoes and on a n i c e , c l e a n s h i p . They would l o o k 

around and say, " L i e u t e n a n t , how do you get a n i c e j o b l i k e 

t h i s ? " So I would say, " W e l l , f i r s t you be i n the Reserves so 

t h a t i n l e s s than 24-hours o f P e a r l Harbor your d u t i e s a re 

a s s i g n e d t o you and a l l mimeographed and p o s t marked. And then 

you come on and get i n t o your l i a i s o n work and do amphibious work 

f o r t h i r t y months, and you go i n t o combat and then you w r i t e a 

combat r e p o r t and you recommend a new o r g a n i z a t i o n and t h a t w i l l 

get you k i c k e d u p s t a i r s . I f the Pentagon a c c e p t s i t , o f c o u r s e . " 

"Oh, t h a n k s . " 

One time I i n s u l t e d the A d m i r a l . S e e i n g as how I d i d have 

my 30-months amphibious d u t i e s i n by t h a t time, my pr o m o t i o n 

papers from L i e u t e n a n t t o C a p t a i n had gone i n i t i a t e d by my M a j o r 

on up t h r o u g h the C o l o n e l and o f f t o the A d m i r a l and top deck and 

then from t h e r e t o the U.S. Navy Headquarters i n London on over 

t o the U.S. Army H e a d q u a r t e r s . "Ah, t h a t i s the o l d form f o r 

p r o m o t i o n s . Now we have t h i s new form f o r prom o t i o n s , so send i t 

back, w i t h a new form, over to the Navy," over t o the A d m i r a l . 

Then over back down t o Major, the Major p i c k e d up the paperwork, 
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OK'ed i t , and sent i t u p s t a i r s , and the A d m i r a l says, "No way. 

We got enough Army p r o m o t i o n s . J u s t had some go t h r o u g h . " 

Whether he d i d not want t o , o r d i d not need t o , o r d i d not 

u n d e r s t a n d o r remember, t o t h i s day I do not know, but he 

presumed t h a t I d i d not need a p r o m o t i o n . They d i d not 

u n d e r s t a n d t h a t I had been promoted. My Major c o u l d not make i t 

c l e a r , somehow o r o t h e r , I d i d not get the promotion c l e a r e d . 

W e l l , I was unhappy. Here, as a L i e u t e n a n t , I was d o i n g the j o b 

o f two C a p t a i n s and a Major and sometimes, q u i t e o f t e n , knocked 

o f f work a t 1:30 a.m. t o get back a t 8:00. And go around the 

c l o c k some more, c o n t i n u i n g by the week. Once I remember i t was 

4:30 i n the morning b e f o r e I got t o bed. And I f e l t I was d o i n g 

a l r i g h t . My p r o m o t i o n papers were, o r i g i n a l l y , approved here and 

were o f f i c i a l , but on the " o l d forms," so were sent back t o be 

c o p i e d o v e r , but my A d m i r a l r e f u s e d t o s i g n i t a g a i n . By t h e n , 

my p a r e n t s had m a i l e d me C a p t a i n ' s b a r s t h a t I c o u l d not f i n d i n 

E n g l a n d . I never wore them. 

Then an ALLNAV came through, an A l l N a v a l u n i t s , on an o r d e r 

t h a t s a i d t h a t A l l N a v a l O f f i c e r s , e q u i v a l e n t t o my F i r s t 

L i e u t e n a n t grade, who d i d not have any bad remarks about them i n 

t h e i r f i l e s , would a u t o m a t i c a l l y get a p r o m o t i o n a t the end o f 28 

months. I f t h e y had 28 months, a l l o f those would a l l move up t o 

the n e x t grade, which would have been e q u i v a l e n t to my C a p t a i n c y . 

And t h r e e o f t h o s e o f f i c e r s had gone ashore i n a boat, such as I 

had, and t h e y had gone and got t h e i r g o l d b r a i d s s t i t c h e d onto 

t h e i r s l e e v e s , f o r t h e i r p r omotion, t h a t had come through. 
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And we were coming back i n the l a n d i n g boat because the 

A d m i r a l d i d the c o u r t e s y o f s w i n g i n g by the dock, where e n l i s t e d 

men, as w e l l as o f f i c e r s o f the s h i p , c o u l d get a r i d e back t o 

the s h i p . And the A d m i r a l would come by i n the A d m i r a l ' s Barge 

and ask, "Would any o f you gentlemen p r e f e r t o r i d e w i t h me back 

to t h e s h i p , o r would you r a t h e r w a i t w i t h e n l i s t e d men?" And, 

o f c o u r s e , we o f f i c e r s would always s t e p f o r w a r d . I n t h i s case, 

c o n v e n i e n t l y , t h e r e was j u s t the few o f us o f f i c e r s , the t h r e e 

w i t h t h e i r new g o l d b r a i d s on t h e i r s l e e v e s , and the water was 

choppy and the boat was s w i n g i n g around. The A d m i r a l was 

s t a n d i n g w i t h two hands h o l d i n g on t o the r a i l ahead. 

We were not i n s i d e the b o a t . We were on top deck o f t h e 

boat w i t h our A d m i r a l hanging onto the window showcase up ahead. 

And the o t h e r o f f i c e r s were hanging on b e h i n d , e x c e p t t h a t I was 

v e r y unhappy. Here was t h i s A d m i r a l who had r e f u s e d my p r o m o t i o n 

a f t e r he had a l r e a d y a c c e p t e d i t . So I s t o o d w i t h my f e e t a p a r t , 

so t h a t I would not f a l l down, and I j u s t f o l d e d my arms a c r o s s 

my c h e s t and I was f r u s t r a t e d . The water was rough, but my 

f a t h e r had owned Perch Lake, the l a r g e s t p r i v a t e l y owned body o f 

water i n New York s t a t e , when I was a c h i l d , and we had storms 

out t h e r e . I had l e a r n e d a l i t t l e b i t about b o a t i n g . So I knew 

I c o u l d h o l d i t , i n s p i t e o f t h i s choppy w a t e r . I wouldn't go 

over the s i d e , but the A d m i r a l l o o k e d back a t me. And, o f 

c o u r s e , he i s r e s p o n s i b l e f o r me. R e g a r d l e s s how b a d l y I am 

p e r f o r m i n g , he i s r e s p o n s i b l e f o r me. He l o o k e d back a t me and, 

v e r y p r o p e r l y , he s a i d , " L i e u t e n a n t , s h o u l d n ' t you hang on. I 
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would h a t e t o have you l o s t over the s i d e . " And s u d d e n l y I 

r e a l i z e d here was my chance t o get back a t him, and I d i d . And 

i m p r o p e r l y , I am s u r e . I s a i d , "No s i r , we Army o f f i c e r s get 

c o c k y t h i s way a f t e r t h i r t y months amphibious d u t i e s . " W e l l , 

t h i s was a slam a t those o f f i c e r s because I had j u s t e x p l a i n e d t o 

t h o s e 28-month o f f i c e r s t h a t , no, t h e y don't have t o s h i e l d t h e i r 

g o l d b r a i d s a g a i n s t the ocean s a l t w ater. I t won't d e s t r o y t h e 

s h i n e on t h e g o l d , t h a t i s why i t i s g o l d i s because the s a l t 

w ater would r u i n a n y t h i n g e l s e . So t h e y d i d not have t o worry. 

So t h e y knew t h a t I knew and the A d m i r a l s h o u l d have known to o 

t h a t I knew t h a t t h e y had 28 months i n the Navy and I had had 

t h i r t y months amphibious d u t i e s i n the Army and I was not a l l o w e d 

my p r o m o t i o n , which was a l r e a d y on r e c o r d . They had j u s t got 

t h e i r s so i t was s o r e and i r r i t a t i n g me. Of c o u r s e I got o f f l a s t 

back a t t h e s h i p , and t h a t was l a t e i n the day. 

Next morning, M a j o r George P a r i s h , w i t h h i s f a c e r e d , came 

up t o me and s a i d , "What i n the h e l l d i d you do w i t h the A d m i r a l ? 

I n e v e r seen a man so angry i n my l i f e . " I s a i d , "Oh, t h a t . I 

s q u e l c h e d him when he needed a s q u e l c h i n g . " And, I mentioned 

about t h e p r o m o t i o n , the 30 months and the 28 months, and I had 

more amphibious d u t i e s , p l u s o t h e r Army d u t i e s , where I was s h o t 

at and where I shot a t the enemy and I l o s t 10% o f my men. Now 

t h e s e non-combatant guys were g e t t i n g p r o m o t i o n and I was n o t . 

Many had been k i l l e d , p r o b a b l y i l l e g a l l y . My Major s a i d t h a t , 

"The A d m i r a l wants me t o get r i d o f you, but I s a i d , I can n o t , 

f o r t h e r e i s j u s t f o u r o f us d o i n g the j o b o f f i f t e e n . Not when 
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A d m i r a l Moon's p l a c e has 15 o f f i c e r s . So I had p r o m i s e d him t h a t 

once the C o l o n e l went I c o u l d get the j o b done but I am depending 

a l o t on you, George. You know what the o t h e r two o f f i c e r s can 

do and t h a t i s why I come f o r a i d t o you, so d i r e c t l y , so o f t e n . 

You can get the j o b s done. I had t o t e l l the A d m i r a l t h a t i f I 

get r i d o f you, I would have t o r e t r a c t my statement, I cannot 

get h i s ( j o b done. Because I do not have enough men and t h e r e i s 

not enough time t o r e t r a i n someone t o f i l l your t h r e e p o s i t i o n s . 

These o t h e r o f f i c e r s can not do i t . You know what i s g o i n g on. 

"So," he c o n t i n u e d , "I made a d e a l t h a t I would get r i d o f you as 

soon as t h e o p e r a t i o n i s o v e r . Send you back t o the Army i n 

London." "Okay." " A l l r i g h t , " the M a j o r says, "so you see t h e 

A d m i r a l as l i t t l e as p o s s i b l e , do not get i n h i s way. We w i l l 

make o u t . The A d m i r a l a c c e p t e d my b a r g a i n t h a t I would get r i d 

o f you as soon as the o p e r a t i o n i s o v e r . " 

So time went on, and we were i n t o the Omaha beachhead 

o p e r a t i o n , and the argument between the G e n e r a l ashore and t h e 

A d m i r a l a f l o a t came up. I was g o i n g ashore each day, i n o r d e r t o 

get i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t d i d not come by communications, and b r i n g 

t h a t back on t o the p e r s o n s i n the Communications J o i n t O p e r a t i o n 

Room, and r e p o r t t h a t i n f o r m a t i o n , v e r b a l l y , c l e a r l y and out 

l o u d , so t h a t everyone would hear. I would hope t h a t enough 

p e o p l e would get i t , so t h a t some i n f o r m a t i o n would be t a k e n . I 

had gone ashore w i t h a Coast and G e o d e t i c Survey Boat, t h a t was 

g o i n g t o check out the p o s i t i o n t h e r e i n the B r i t i s h s e c t o r . 
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The edge o f the American s e c t o r was near P o r t en B e s i n , a 

m i l e i n t o t h e B r i t i s h s e c t o r , where we were g o i n g t o l a y the 

p i p e l i n e s f o r d i e s e l and g a s o l i n e f u e l s t o be p i p e d i n t o the 

o p e r a t i o n . We a r r i v e d and I had t a l k e d w i t h the B r i t i s h 

s o l d i e r s . They were g e t t i n g c i v i l i a n s out o f houses because the 

s o l d i e r s were g o i n g t o b l a s t some o f the German o b s t r u c t i o n s out 

of the way. And I t a l k e d , i n French, t o some o f the l i t t l e g i r l s 

and l a d i e s t o get them away from the windows, get out o f he r e , 

and go up t h e h i l l . Then two l i t t l e boys came a l o n g and tagged 

a l o n g c h a t t e d w i t h me up and down. I had 3 y e a r s o f French i n 

s c h o o l and a year i n French N o r t h A f r i c a . Then t h e r e was one and 

then j u s t t h e o t h e r one, then j u s t the f i r s t one, then j u s t t h e 

o t h e r one. I thought, m i s t a k e n l y , t h a t they were p l a y i n g some 

k i n d o f game w i t h me, r u n n i n g back and f o r t h . I went up the h i l l 

and I had t o go a c r o s s a woods t o get i n the American s e c t o r , and 

t h i s was my f i r s t day i n . I had s h i n e d shoes and p r e s s e d 

t r o u s e r s . I d i d not wear a weapon b e l t , nor c a r r y a gun, and I 

d i d not go i n w i t h combat boots because I went on a boat. We 

p u l l e d up t o a dock and we knew what were we g o i n g t o do. So I 

went on up the h i l l and, sure enough, t h e r e was the c h u r c h . I 

had memorized the maps. The p r o p e r t h i n g t o do i s t o s t o p a t t h e 

ch u r c h and say a p r a y e r f o r the dead and d y i n g . And I d i d , w h i l e 

I h e a r d a commotion b e h i n d me. When I went i n , t h e r e was nobody 

e l s e i n the c h u r c h . The door was not l o c k e d . As I t u r n e d around 

t o come o u t , t h e r e was a whole crowd o f French p e o p l e t h e r e 

l o o k i n g a t me. When I t r i e d t o get through them, no way, t h e y 
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were not g o i n g t o l e t me get t h r o u g h the door. They wanted a 

" p i e c e o f p a p e r . " I d i d not have much w i t h me d e l i b e r a t e l y . 

When you go ashore, i n enemy t e r r i t o r y , you don't b r i n g i n 

a n y t h i n g which might h e l p the enemy. I t f i n a l l y got around t o 

" i d e n t i f i c a t i o n , " "photograph," and I p u l l e d out my Navy c a r d 

which d i d not have a photograph on i t . A U.S. Navy c a r d , and 

here I am i n Army c l o t h e s , but about t h a t time i n come two 

B r i t i s h s o l d i e r s w i t h l o a d e d guns w i t h b a y o n e t s , helmets, 

combats, the whole t h i n g . And then the c o n v e r s a t i o n was between 

me and them. Seemed t h a t how the F r e n c h had c a p t u r e d me. And 

t h a t day t h e s e B r i t i s h s o l d i e r s had shot two Germans on s i g h t , 

and y e s t e r d a y t h e y shot t h r e e on s i g h t . The Germans were 

p r o b a b l y shacked up and l e a v i n g , r e a l i z i n g something was g o i n g 

on, and t r i e d t o l e a v e town. And, i f I had not been i n the 

c h u r c h , t h e y would have shot me on s i g h t . So I was c a p t u r e d by 

the French Underground, t r a c k e d by two " R e s i s t a n c e " boys, t u r n e d 

over t o t h e B r i t i s h t o be shot on s i g h t , and escaped because I 

was i n t h e c h u r c h . And t o l d t o go down, and t u r n l e f t , and go 

a l o n g t h r o u g h the woods t h e r e , the t h i c k woods on t h a t b l a c k t o p 

road, and I would be back t o the American s e c t o r . A l l o f which I 

knew because I had memorized a l l those maps, c o n d i t i o n s , 

e v e r y t h i n g e l s e t h e r e . 

So I took o f f and went through the woods. I t was a n i c e 

walk t h r o u g h the woods a h a l f o f a m i l e , o r something o f t h a t 

s o r t . I do not remember. I t was n i c e overgrown ground. I 

suppose a l o t o f p e o p l e c o u l d h i d e i n t h e r e . W e l l , I got t o the 
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f a r s i d e o f the woods and the l a n d s c a p e c l e a r e d out i n t o t h e 

g u l l e y s . And out o f the g u l l e y came t h i s b i g American s e r g e a n t , 

grabbed me by the s h o u l d e r , p u l l e d me down i n t o the d i t c h , and 

kept h o l l e r i n g , "Where are they, how many o f them, where?" "What 

are you t a l k i n g a b o u t ? " He s a i d , "The Germans, how many a r e on 

which s i d e o f the road? How many d i d you see?" I s a i d , " I d i d 

not see any." F i n a l l y , we f i g u r e d out t h a t I had walked t h r o u g h 

the Germans t h a t were p i n n e d down by the American machine gun 

f i r e up the road. They had seen me. They had been w a t c h i n g me. 

They wondered why I was not s h o t . The Germans might have been 

c o n f u s e d as t o who I was and whether I was worth s h o o t i n g . We 

f i n a l l y [decided] t h a t I was not worth s h o o t i n g and t h a t i s why 

t h e y d i d not shoot because i t would expose where t h e y were. I 

was not c a r r y i n g a gun nor a gun b e l t . So I had been t r a c k e d by 

the F r e n c h Underground boys, t u r n e d over t o the French 

R e s i s t a n c e , g i v e n t o the B r i t i s h , and sent t h r o u g h a German 

p o c k e t o f t r o o p s , and then c a p t u r e d by the Americans, a l l i n l e s s 

t h a n one hour. I was not proud o f my a d v e n t u r e . 

And t h e n two o t h e r o f f i c e r s , the next day, d e c i d e d t h a t , 

"Hey, Bonadio i s the o n l y guy g o i n g i n as a t o u r i s t . He goes i n 

as a t o u r i s t e v e r y day. L e t us go i n and x t o u r i s t . ' " The net 

r e s u l t o f t h a t was they were b o t h s h o t . The B r i t i s h C a p t a i n d i e d 

i n a f o x h o l e , and one o f my seven bosses, a Navy Commander, I 

watched him w h i l e the s h i p ' s d o c t o r took the b u l l e t out o f h i s 

b u t t . I s a i d n o t h i n g . So the A d m i r a l put out an o r d e r , "No 

o f f i c e r , o r man, o f t h i s Command w i l l go ashore f o r any purpose 
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whatsoever, e x c e p t i n g L i e u t e n a n t George Bonadio." In o t h e r 

words, I became expendable, o f f i c i a l l y and i n w r i t i n g , s i g n e d by 

the A d m i r a l who i l l e g a l l y k i l l e d my promotion a f t e r he had 

approved i t . 

I was g o i n g ashore each day. And I had a few more c l o s e 

c a l l s . Amongst o t h e r t h i n g s I d i d f i n d a body i n the sand j u s t 

by a s h i n y , b r a s s b e l t b u c k l e . I k i c k e d the b u c k l e , then I 

p u l l e d on i t i n the sand, and I got the s a l v a g e man t o come o v e r 

and p i c k t h a t body out, t h a t was g o i n g t o d i s a p p e a r f o r e v e r under 

the t i d e . 

SIDE TWO 

I d i d a number o f t h i n g s which had something t o do w i t h t h e 

o v e r a l l outcome o f Omaha beachhead. F i r s t , I p r e p a r e d [a] 

recommendation t h a t became the J o i n t A s s a u l t S i g n a l Companies i n 

World War I I . S e v e r a l o f which were a t Omaha beachhead and t h e y 

c a r r i e d on communications on the beach head between beaches and 

beaches, and beaches backwards to the Navy, and f o r w a r d t o t h e 

I n f a n t r y , upward t o the A i r F o r c e . They were my J o i n t A s s a u l t 

S i g n a l Companies. They r e c e i v e d the h i g h e s t number of 

P r e s i d e n t i a l C i t a t i o n s o f any u n i t s i n the Omaha beachhead 

o p e r a t i o n s . 

Second, when the L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l and I were w o r k i n g on 

the c h a r t f o r the i n v a s i o n waves to go i n t o the beach heads, 

t h e r e were a number o f l i t t l e a t t a c k waves t h a t had been p r e p a r e d 
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b e f o r e I got on t o i t . And I t r i e d t o t a l k the C o l o n e l i n t o 

p u t t i n g i t i n t o l a r g e r , s i n g u l a r waves w i t h masses o f b o a t s 

coming i n a l l t o g e t h e r r a t h e r t h a n s t a g g e r e d . Because s t a g g e r e d , 

j u s t a few guns on the shore c o u l d p i c k o f f many o f those b o a t s 

coming i n and we c o u l d l o s e the whole wave by i t b e i n g too s m a l l . 

Whereas i f we come i n w i t h a l a r g e f r o n t a l a t t a c k o f many b o a t s , 

i t would mean t h a t a l a r g e r p e r c e n t a g e o f b o a t s would miss b e i n g 

h i t by heavy enemy f i r e power, due t o l i m i t a t i o n o f enemy 

f i r e p o w e r , we hoped. The L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l d i d not see t h i s . 

At l e a s t he d i d not want t o see t h i s . He was a M i l i t a r y S c h o o l 

o f f i c e r and, o f c o u r s e , knew much more about the m i l i t a r y than I 

d i d , n a t u r a l l y , and o f h i s t o r y , m i l i t a r y b a t t l e s , c e r t a i n l y . So 

I had t o f i x up t o h i s n e g a t i v e comment on t h a t . That n i g h t I 

was so i n f u r i a t e d w i t h t h i s d i s r e g a r d f o r t h e s e men g o i n g i n and 

the s a f e t y o f t h e o p e r a t i o n on the whole, t h a t I c o u l d n ' t s l e e p 

much and I thought o f a l l k i n d s o f t h i n g s . What can I do? What 

can I do? What can I do t o c o n v i n c e t h i s C o l o n e l ? F i n a l l y , I 

d e c i d e d I c o u l d not c o n v i n c e the C o l o n e l o f my good i d e a . 

I n s t e a d I was g o i n g t o have to c o n v i n c e the C o l o n e l o f h i s good 

i d e a . So, I would have t o confuse him. So the nex t day I spent 

a l l day l o n g coming out w i t h perhaps a dozen d i f f e r e n t i d e a s , 

some o f wh i c h were r e a l l y s t u p i d , but b e i n g q u i t e t i r e d and 

l o o k i n g f a t i g u e d from a r e c e n t m a l a r i a a t t a c k , and news t h a t my 

o n l y b r o t h e r had d i e d . He was the weight (balance) c o n t r o l Navy 

A v i a t i o n E n g i n e e r , and h i s 6 and H day week was too much, and I 

suppose I got away w i t h i t . I was w i t h a dozen d i f f e r e n t i d e a s 
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i n t h e r e , as t o what we can do here, what we can do t h e r e , and so 

on. Sometimes I would t a l k m y s e l f out o f them, and sometimes he 

would t a l k me out o f them. And then the t h i r d day, w i t h almost 

no s l e e p by now, I came w i t h the " q u e s t i o n " and f i n a l l y got 

around t o ask the C o l o n e l , "Of a l l these i d e a s , you had a good 

one i n t h e r e C o l o n e l . What was t h a t good one you had?" And 

a f t e r s e v e r a l t r i p s t o h i s o f f i c e and back and f o r t h , he managed 

t o remember one o f p u t t i n g t h e s e waves i n s o l i d f r o n t i n s t e a d o f 

i n p i e c e m e a l coming i n , and so I put h i s i d e a s i n t o r e a r r a n g i n g 

t h o s e waves t o come i n - i n u n i s o n . What good i t d i d I don't 

know, but I s l e p t b e t t e r . 

A f t e r the f i r s t l a n d i n g s , the A d m i r a l and the G e n e r a l 

a s h o r e , t h e Beach Ma s t e r c a r r i e d on an argument back and f o r t h , 

by u s i n g me as a n o n - w r i t i n g , n o n - r e c o r d i n g c o n t a c t , t o blame 

each o t h e r f o r the s h i p l o a d i n g M a n i f e s t s not h a v i n g come a c r o s s . 

I was r e l i e v e d because the Headquarters moved ashore by t h e n on D 

+ 1 1 . I went back t o England and I counted 18 c o u r t m a r t i a l 

c h arges I had assumed by countermanding the h i g h command o r d e r s 

and g e t t i n g these M a n i f e s t s f l o w n over by P i p e r Cub and t o what 

i s now a cemetery over the beachhead. 

That C a p t a i n I had f l y them over and I met some 14 months 

l a t e r . He was then not a C a p t a i n , not a Major, he was now a 

L i e u t e n a n t C o l o n e l . We were b e i n g photographed i n f r o n t o f the 

Rheims C a t h e d r a l . Then, i n the " l i b e r a t i o n , " my d u t i e s i n c l u d e d 

e v e r y s i x hours t o t a l i n g up the k i l l e d , wounded and m i s s i n g , and 

p u t t i n g i t on a c h a l k b o a r d , o f a l l t h i n g s . I t was a r e a l crude 
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b e g i n n i n g , i n J o i n t O p e r a t i o n s . And t h e r e were two d i f f e r e n t map 

t a b l e s o f d i f f e r e n t s c a l e s . One was m o s t l y our beachhead, and 

t h e n e x t one i n c l u d e d Cherbourg and q u i t e a ways on up toward the 

E n g l i s h C h a n n e l . And I had t o keep up those p o s i t i o n s o f markers 

of r e g i m e n t s and b a t t a l i o n s , d i v i s i o n s and c o r p s , and a l l t h a t 

s o r t o f s t u f f as t o who was where, a c c o r d i n g t o the l a t e s t 

r e p o r t s t h a t I had t o thumb th r o u g h . So e v e r y s i x hours I was 

busy t h e r e . From m i d n i g h t u n t i l 6:00 a.m., I r e p r e s e n t e d the 

Army, w h i c h was not v e r y busy, t o the Navy and the A i r Force a t 

t h a t e a r l y hour. And then i n the a f t e r n o o n , I would go ashore 

and f i n d out what i n f o r m a t i o n was n e c e s s a r y and brought i t back 

and expounded t h a t t o the o f f i c e r s and men i n the J o i n t 

O p e r a t i o n s Room. I t was d u r i n g t h e s e t r i p s back and f o r t h t h a t I 

c a r r i e d on t h e s e p a r t i c u l a r messages. 

There was the time when the D-Day was postponed from June 5 

t o June 6 t h . M a j o r P a r i s h came a l o n g and s a i d , "Do you know 

Commander so and s o ? " "Yes." "Do you know where he i s ? " "Yes." 

"Where i s he?" "He i s w i t h h i s f l o t i l l a out i n Southampton Bay 

and about 50, 75 m i l e s down the r o a d . " So he reminded me t h a t 

was the f l o t i l l a w i t h a l l the r o c k e t l a u n c h e r s on, and the f r o g 

men on, and t h e y were s l o w e r than our f l o t i l l a , and so t h e y had 

s t a r t e d sooner t h a n ours w i l l have s t a r t e d , and then t h e r e was 

the c a n c e l l a t i o n s i g n a l t h a t went out by r a d i o , but d i d they hear 

i t ? " D i d t h e y a c c e p t i t ? D i d they use i t ? D i d t h e y t u r n 

around? D i d t h e y go back? I f they went back, do they know t h a t 

i t i s n ' t i n the book f o r them to go 24-hours l a t e r ? But 
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everybody i s g o i n g t o go 24-hours l a t e r but do they know t h a t ? 

Are we g o i n g t o go i n t h e r e w i t h o u t t h e i r b e n e f i t o f t h r o w i n g i n 

those thousands o f r o c k e t s and s e n d i n g i n t h e i r frogmen t o get 

r i d o f the d e m o l i t i o n f o r the b o a t s coming i n ? L i e u t e n a n t , do 

you say you can get o f f t h i s s e a l e d s h i p ? " "Yes." "You have t o 

get o f f t h i s s e a l e d s h i p . You have t o get a v e h i c l e out o f our 

garage a s h o r e . You have t o d r i v e 75 m i l e s o ver t h e r e and you 

have t o get y o u r s e l f a boat and get out t o the s e a l e d s h i p and 

see the Commander out t h e r e . W i l l he r e c o g n i z e you?" "Yes." 

"Then you have t o e x p l a i n t o him what i s g o i n g on. F i n d out i f 

he has got the s i g n a l and c e r t a i n l y t h a t i s the most i m p o r t a n t 

p a r t . God h e l p us i f he opens the f r o n t 24-hours too soon. That 

would c o s t us thousands o f more c a s u a l t i e s . Then get on back 

here because the anchor goes up a t a g i v e n time and you have t o 

be on b o a r d b e f o r e t h a t t i m e . " So he calmed down and s a i d , "That 

l i t t l e g i r l I have seen you d a n c i n g w i t h a t the t e a dances 

downtown. Do you know where she l i v e s ? " "Yes." " I f you have 

p l e n t y o f time on the way back, don't f o r g e t t o s t o p i n t h e r e and 

be seen by the n e i g h b o r s and a l l t h a t and be c a s u a l . Don't be i n 

a h u r r y . J u s t be as c a s u a l as p o s s i b l e and be back here b e f o r e 

the anchor goes up." I got back j u s t i n time t o hear them t a k e 

the anchor up. 

On t h a t t r i p t h r o u g h , e v e r y t h i n g had been d e l a y e d . B i g 

v e h i c l e s had dug up mud and c a r r i e d i t a c r o s s the r o a d . I t was 

m i s t y and r a i n i n g . And my wheels p i c k e d up the mud i n the water 

and got i t i n t o the a i r and i t c i r c u l a t e d on the back s i d e o f my 
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w i n d s h i e l d . So I got a newspaper t o k i n d o f wipe i t o f f w i t h and 

s h i e l d m y s e l f w i t h . E v e r y c r o s s r o a d was a MP s t a n d i n g t h e r e 

because t h a t was where he was g o i n g t o be. And he q u e s t i o n e d 

e v e r y v e h i c l e moving as t o why i t was moving and the f i r s t one 

s t o p p e d me and s a i d , " L i e u t e n a n t , you're not a l l o w e d t o d r i v e i n 

the UK, t h e U n i t e d Kingdom." And, o f c o u r s e , I e x p l a i n e d t o him 

t h a t t h a t i s i n an Army v e h i c l e , t h i s i s a Navy v e h i c l e , i f you 

n o t i c e t h e i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . " F i n e , s i r , but o f f i c e r s are not 

a l l o w e d t o d r i v e i n the UK." "We can w i t h the Navy v e h i c l e s . " 

" W e l l l e t me see your t r i p t i c k e t . " I s a i d , "The Navy does not 

have t r i p t i c k e t s . " "Okay!" I s a i d , "get out o f the way because 

I have got work t o do." But I s h o r t e n e d i t up as I went a l o n g 

because e v e r y c o r n e r was another MP and he wanted t o know why was 

I d r i v i n g a v e h i c l e when o f f i c e r s don't d r i v e v e h i c l e s i n t h e UK 

and so on. T h i s i s over and back the same d e a l which slowed me 

down a b i t . Then I had t o argue, and p l e a d and c a j o l e i n o r d e r 

to get t h e boat r i d e out t o the s e a l e d s h i p s . And then I saw 

t h o s e men who seemed t o be boys, t h a t were t o have 43% c a s u a l t i e s 

i n the n e x t 24-hours. M o s t l y dead. Then I managed t o get back 

on t i m e . I don't know of anybody e l s e who c o u l d have done t h a t . 

Others would not know who they were g o i n g t o need to see. They 

d i d n ot know enough i n f o r m a t i o n about who, why, where, t i m i n g , 

f a m i l i a r i t y , and t h i s was the problem o f not h a v i n g the 15 

o f f i c e r s a v a i l a b l e i n a s t a f f . So t h e A d m i r a l was d a n g e r o u s l y 

d e f i c i e n t i n not w a n t i n g "too much Army around." Sometimes I 

thought i n terms o f meeting a n o t h e r o f f i c e r i n the passageway and 
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s a y i n g , "You l o o k l i k e x t o o much Army' t o me." Something o f t h a t 

s o r t . But I r e s i s t e d t h a t . 

Then, oh, the s h i p was n i c e . I t was a Panama L i n e l u x u r y 

s h i p . And we each, each o f f i c e r ' s room had two bunks and Beauty 

Rest m a t t r e s s e s , and a l l o f the water, i n c l u d i n g i n the showers, 

was d i s t i l l e d w ater. That was g e t t i n g t o be a problem on the 

s h i p i n England, not enough d i s t i l l i n g c a p a c i t y . And we had 

l o c k - u p s a f e s and a d i a l t e l e p h o n e i n each room. I t was g r e a t 

c o n v e n i e n c e . We had f i v e t e l e p h o n e l i n e s t o t h e shore from the. 

buoy. 

When we were a t Plymouth, I used t o d a t e a v e r y n i c e B r i t i s h 

g i r l who was a WREN, Women's Royal E n l i s t e d Navy. I was 

i n t r o d u c e d t o h e r a t a dance, when I met a B r i t i s h C a p t a i n i n the 

p a r a t r o o p s . He i n t r o d u c e d me t o h i s s i s t e r , who was t h i s WREN. 

So e v e r y Tuesday and Thursday n i g h t s , i f I was not busy, we had a 

s t a n d i n g d a t e t h a t I would take h er t o Lady A s t o r ' s dances. Lady 

A s t o r put on q u i t e a show. A l l you needed was a u n i f o r m . And so 

the C a p t a i n went on and I s t a y e d t h e r e . T h e i r f a t h e r worked i n 

the d o c k y a r d . So, one Thursday, I took h er home a f t e r the dance 

and asked h er a t the door, " A l l s e t f o r n e x t Tuesday? I w i l l p i c k 

you up a t the same t i m e . " She d i d not answer me. We t a l k e d on. 

E v e n t u a l l y , I asked her a g a i n . And the response then was, "Who 

do you t h i n k you are f o o l i n g ? " " I don't know, f o o l i n g what?" 

She s a i d , "You a r e not go i n g t o be h e r e . " " I am not go i n g t o be 

here? How do you know? I don't know t h a t . How do you know?" 

She s a i d , "Your s h i p l e a v e s a t 9:00 Sunday morning." " I do? We 
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do? How do you know?" "Dad." "Oh, t h a t ' s r i g h t , he works i n 

the d o c k y a r d . " "Yes," she s a i d , "Your s h i p ' s buoy i s g o i n g t o be 

a v a i l a b l e a t 9:00 on Sunday morning." So you see how the 

c i v i l i a n s c o u l d have i n f o r m a t i o n t h a t would s u r p r i s e a s e c u r i t y 

p e r s o n . Put t h i n g s t o g e t h e r and so t h e r e we were. Of c o u r s e , we 

l e f t a t t h a t t i m e . That was o ver i n Plymouth. 

I never saw her a g a i n , but an o v e r f l o w o f a wounded " B r i t i s h 

s o l d i e r " who had an a c c i d e n t out f r o n t o f the h o s p i t a l was 

s u b s e q u e n t l y put i n t o my ward. I h e a r d him from h i s back and 

screamed, "Ron! What are you d o i n g h e r e ? " He was the WREN's 

b r o t h e r . We t a l k e d f o r h o u r s . S e v e r a l months l a t e r , I had a 

l o n g l e t t e r from the WREN and her mother. Ron had w r i t t e n a l o n g 

l e t t e r about our day t o g e t h e r , and then he p a r a c h u t e d i n t o 

H o l l a n d and was k i l l e d . I c r i e d . 

Then t h e r e was something i n f o o l i s h n e s s t h a t went on t h e r e . 

Oh, t h e r e was a Navy r a n k i n g system. When another o f f i c e r , o f 

i m p o r t a n c e , would come aboard the s h i p , a l l us o f f i c e r s would 

have t o move down one room. O f f towards something o r o t h e r . A 

bunch o f rooms t h a t are a l l a l i k e . You c o u l d not j u s t have the 

f r o n t moved o v e r t o the r e a r . Everybody had t o move down f o r one 

room. There were a l l k i n d s o f mumblings and g r u m b l i n g s , o v e r 

t h i s , b u t we d i d i t . 

A number o f t i m e s we were t o l d t o not put any l a u n d r y o r d r y 

c l e a n i n g out i n t o t h e town because we might be p u l l i n g up anchor 

and g o i n g f o r t h i s o r t h a t o p e r a t i o n . We had a l l k i n d s o f 

arrangements o f t e s t s here and a t e s t t h e r e f o r d i f f e r e n t t r o o p s 
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on t h e d i f f e r e n t l a n d i n g hards, a h a r d s u r f a c e put over a s o f t 

beach. And we would have r a d i o s i l e n c e s t h a t would i n c l u d e a l l 

o f t h e communications. So i f the Germans t r i e d t o f i g u r e out a 

p a t t e r n , t h e r e was not a p a t t e r n . I t c o u l d happen at any o l d 

t i m e . A l l our r a d i o s would go s i l e n t and t h e n t h e y would a l l 

s t a r t up a g a i n so many days l a t e r . So the Germans c o u l d not 

f i g u r e out from our p a t t e r n when the o p e r a t i o n was r e a l l y 

s t a r t i n g because t h e y c o u l d not f i g u r e out from the r a d i o 

communications what was g o i n g on. So t h e r e were times when, i n 

p r a c t i c e , when nobody c o u l d use the r a d i o s . But smart o p e r a t o r s 

c o u l d have, i f the Germans had been smart enough, they c o u l d have 

g o t t e n t h e i n f o r m a t i o n from the d i f f e r e n t h a r d s t h e r e i n the 

n e i g h b o r h o o d o f a c t i v i t i e s t i g h t e n i n g t h i n g s up. And put i t a l l 

t o g e t h e r when a l l o f them d i d something a l l a t the same time, 

t h a t would be i t . Because the s e o t h e r o p e r a t i o n s never a l l went 

at t h e same time because we d i d not have the f a c i l i t i e s . We 

wanted t o do i t a l l a t the same t i m e . So we had a weakness 

t h e r e . We had s e a l e d s h i p s f o r days b e f o r e p l a n n e d day June 5, 

then the one day d e l a y . German s p i e s c o u l d have caught on, two 

days e a r l i e r , a t l e a s t . 

There was a n o t h e r weakness t h a t I was aghast w i t h i n 

s e c u r i t y . We d i d have, of c o u r s e , the c h a r t s , maps and 

e v e r y t h i n g e l s e the books, the bookcase, but t h e r e was a c t u a l l y 

i n f o r m a t i o n w h i c h t i e d the phase o f the moon, you c o u l d put i t 

t o g e t h e r and f i g u r e out when the i n v a s i o n was g o i n g t o be. And 

t h i s was l o c k e d up i n our s a f e u n d e r neath our t i l t t a b l e , s t a n d -
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-up t a b l e . And I thought I was honored, one day, when the 

C o l o n e l t o l d me, "You have proven out and you are b e i n g g i v e n 

here t h i s c o m b i n a t i o n t o the s a f e . Go over and t r y i t out and 

make s u r e you know how i t goes." So I d i d . And, o f c o u r s e , i n 

t h e r e was v a l u a b l e i n f o r m a t i o n t o any enemy. Now I knew t h a t I 

c o u l d because I had done i t . I c o u l d l e a v e the s h i p and go 

ashore and meet the O f f i c e r o f the Deck I had never met b e f o r e . 

Go a s h o r e , j u s t on my say so. Come back, get aboard, any time o f 

the day o r n i g h t , on my say so. I t o f t e n was so dark and b l a c k 

out t h a t t h e O f f i c e r o f the Deck c o u l d not t e l l whether I was 

w e a r i n g an American o r a German u n i f o r m . 

Then I found, f o r v e n t i l a t i o n purposes at n i g h t , q u i t e 

o f t e n , t h e top s e c r e t - the main door o f our l e v e l was l e f t open 

f o r v e n t i l a t i o n p u r p o s e s . And w i t h a guard s l e e p i n g , on a c o t , 

i n a n o i s y s h i p , t h a t meant n o t h i n g because anybody c o u l d walk 

p a s t him. I d i d . And so, s u r e enough, the next morning, a f t e r I 

was g i v e n the c o m b i n a t i o n t o the s a f e , what d i d I f i n d out when I 

got t h e r e ? The s a f e had never been l o c k e d , a l l n i g h t l o n g . 

T h e o r e t i c a l l y , someone c o u l d have come i n , p i c k e d up a l l the 

papers, t a k e them, bagged them up, and l e f t the s h i p w i t h them 

and gone ashore b e f o r e b r e a k f a s t . A c t u a l l y they d i d n o t . But 

the weakness was t h e r e , and i t b o t h e r e d me. There was no r e a l 

s e c u r i t y ! In f a c t , t h e y had a s l i d i n g name board system f o r 

e i t h e r " O f f i c e r s Aboard" o r " O f f i c e r s A s h o r e . " And when I had 

g o t t e n onto the s h i p , i n the l a s t week of January, 1944, t h e y had 

run out o f s l o t s . I t h i n k I was the l a s t o f f i c e r aboard, and so 
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t h e y never d i d put one name board up f o r me. So I went ashore 

and came back o f t e n and the O f f i c e r o f the Deck would l o o k . " I 

am not on t h e r e . " And he would j u s t i g n o r e me. So, no one knew 

when I was aboard o r a f l o a t . I c o u l d have done any k i n d o f 

espionage work, f o r any k i n d o f pay o f f , and they would not have 

been the w i s e r 'for i t . T h i s was s h a t t e r i n g t o me. The o t h e r 

o f f i c e r s were f a i t h f u l and t r u e , and s i n c e r e and honest, and I 

had no w o r r i e s about them. 

One amusing t h i n g happened. M a j o r P a r i s h came and s a i d , 

"George, here i s the address o f a t a x i company i n town and you 

have got t o go i n t h e r e and pay o f f my damages. I had a l i t t l e 

t o o much t o d r i n k and a p p a r e n t l y c r i n k l e d h i s f e n d e r a l i t t l e 

b i t . I saw i t . I t wasn't bad. Go i n t h e r e and pay i t o f f and 

get me a r e c e i p t o f some k i n d . " So he s a y s , "You're g o i n g ashore 

anyway tod a y . " T h i s was b e f o r e D-Day o f c o u r s e . I went i n t o 

shore and a t thos e p r i c e s i t was $315.00 f o r a l i t t l e w r i n k l e i n 

the f e n d e r t h a t he c o u l d have had f i x e d p r o b a b l y f o r $50.00 o f 

American money i n thos e days. M u l t i p l y a l l t h o s e by t e n now he 

c o u l d have got i t f i x e d f o r $500.00 the w r i n k l e . And he wanted 

$315.00. So n a t u r a l l y I d i d not pay. I came ashore. The Major 

says, "Where i s the r e c e i p t ? " I s a i d , " I d i d not pay him." "What 

do you mean you d i d not pay him?" I s a i d , " W e l l , l o o k a t the 

p r i c e . He i s a s k i n g - i t ' s a f i f t y d o l l a r d e a l and he i s a s k i n g 

$300, I would have g i v e n him maybe $200.00 but not $315.00. No 

way. W e l l , he sa y s , "You get me t h a t t h i n g . " "No," he s a i d "You 

tak e i t . You know where he i s . Go pay him o f f . I can't a f f o r d 
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t o have t h a t type o f t h i n g . I was d r i n k i n g a t the t i m e . And I 

had t o get some r e l i e f from t h i s p r e s s u r e , h e r e . " "Yes, t h a t i s 

t r u e . W e l l , okay, I w i l l go ahead and pay i t . I have got enough 

American money w i t h me." So I d i d and he escaped t h a t problem. 

One time I had hung my t r o u s e r s up i n the s h i p , i n t h e r e , i n 

my c a b i n . We had s e g r e g a t i o n enough, i n 1944, so t h a t t h e r e were 

b l a c k e n l i s t e d men who d i d the chamber c l e a n i n g and w a i t e d on 

t a b l e . I had my t r o u s e r s hung up w i t h B r i t i s h money i n one 

b i l l f o l d and American money i n the o t h e r b i l l f o l d , i n my h i p 

p o c k e t s . I came i n one day and i t l o o k e d l i k e my b i l l f o l d was i n 

cr o o k e d . Sure enough. I t was i n cr o o k e d and t h e r e was no money 

i n i t . They had g o t t e n the s m a l l e r o f the two and d i d not 

r e a l i z e t h e r e was another pocketbook, on the o t h e r s i d e o f the 

t r o u s e r s , w i t h most o f the money i n . Can't t r u s t anybody t o make 

good c h o i c e s . 

N o r m a l l y , I c a r r i e d my camera w i t h me a l l t h r o u g h the war 

and b r o u g h t i t home w i t h me. I t was a s m a l l camera. I c o u l d 

c a r r y i t i n my p o c k e t . I used t o keep t h a t i n the bottom o f my 

musette bag, which I d i d not c l o s e up. I l e f t my d i r t y underwear 

on t o p o f my camera. Few people would l o o k f o r a camera under 

the bottom o f a p i l e o f uncovered d i r t y l a u n d r y . 

There was a custom t h a t I c a r r i e d on. The c h e f was under 

o r d e r s t h a t he had t o have a v a i l a b l e , t o a s t , b u t t e r , c o f f e e , e t c . 

a v a i l a b l e a t any hour, day or n i g h t , f o r any o f f i c e r t h a t came 

a l o n g t h a t needed something. So I always b r o u g h t incoming and 

o u t g o i n g o f f i c e r s t o g e t h e r over t o get a q u i c k snack, warm t o a s t , 
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and r e a l b u t t e r , and good c o f f e e w i t h d i s t i l l e d w ater. I t t a s t e d 

good t o t h e s e o f f i c e r s . I remember one l o a d was f i f t e e n 

c o l o n e l s , a l l t h e s e were what we c a l l " f u l l c h i c k e n c o l o n e l s . " 

You know, the e a g l e i n s i g n i a l o o k e d l i k e a c h i c k e n . And so we 

renamed them. A whole boat l o a d o f them I brought i n one time 

and f o r some k i n d o f a meeting. I d i d see A d m i r a l N i m i t z whom I 

thought was o v e r i n the P a c i f i c T h e a t e r . He was t h e r e f o r one 

q u i c k m e e t i n g , e a r l y i n the p r e p a r a t i o n s f o r Omaha beachhead. I 

don't remember j u s t when, but I remember s e e i n g him from th e 

back. I c o u l d r e c o g n i z e him from the s i d e and the back as he 

t u r n e d a l i t t l e b i t , from photographs I had seen o f him. 

A l t h o u g h I d i d not have any c o n t a c t w i t h him, but he was t h e r e . 

F l i e r R i c k e n b a c k e r o f P a c i f i c f l y i n g fame stopped i n a t K i n e t r i a , 

P o r t L y a u t r a , i n N o r t h A f r i c a t o see my G e n e r a l L u c i a n B. 

T r u s c o t t . 

The background I had had. I had been a r e s e r v e o f f i c e r . I 

was c a l l e d up and s e n t i n t o the 44 t h I n f a n t r y D i v i s i o n as a 2nd 

R a dio O f f i c e r , not knowing a n y t h i n g about the Army. And we soon 

went down i n t o the s o u t h l a n d , down i n t o L o u i s i a n a , where we got 

an o r d e r r e q u i s i t i o n i n g a r a d i o o f f i c e r . So n a t u r a l l y , I was the 

u n d e s i r a b l e , l e a s t d e s i r a b l e r a d i o o f f i c e r t hey had w i t h no 

knowledge o f a n y t h i n g , and they a l r e a d y had a n other r a d i o 

o f f i c e r , so I got s h i p p e d out as an u n d e s i r a b l e and a v a i l a b l e t o 

f i l l t he q u a l i f i c a t i o n . And we went i n t o Texas where a l l o f us 

r e j e c t s showed up, and made a company of 275 e n l i s t e d men and t e n 

o f f i c e r s , a major, a c a p t a i n , and e i g h t l i e u t e n a n t s and we 
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s u b s t i t u t e d f o r communications p e r s o n n e l i n the Marine Corps, 

Amphibious Corps, o f the P a c i f i c f l e e t . I t s t a r t e d as the 

Amphibious Force o f the P a c i f i c F l e e t , San Diego, changed t o 

Amphibious Corps o f the P a c i f i c F l e e t . We Army d i d t h e i r 

communications work u n t i l a f t e r we l e a r n e d the Japanese r a d i o 

code, amongst o t h e r t h i n g s , then we i m m e d i a t e l y s h i p p e d out t o 

inva d e A f r i c a . I t was i n t h a t i n v a s i o n o f A f r i c a t h a t my combat 

r e p o r t s u g g e s t e d the J o i n t A s s a u l t S i g n a l Companies. The J o i n t 

A s s a u l t S i g n a l Company was i n t o t h e hot bed o f t h i n g s , o f c o u r s e . 

And t h e g r e a t w r i t e r f o r the GI Joe was E r n i e P y l e . I have some 

stamps around here o f E r n i e P y l e as an American hero. He wanted 

t o be where the a c t i o n was, and he was, and e v e n t u a l l y he popped 

h i s head up one morning and a Japanese sharp s h o o t e r k i l l e d him 

i n s t a n t l y . B u l l e t between the eyes, E r n i e P y l e , good man. E r n i e 

was, a t t h a t t i m e , w i t h one o f my JASCO's. 

There was an a w f u l l o t o f good men l o s t i n the war. There 

was a l l k i n d s o f heroes, d e l i b e r a t e , unannounced and u n n o t i c e d 
i 

and uncounted and unrewarded and t h e y went t o t h e i r deaths f o r 

somebody's m i s t a k e , not t h e i r own. They were d o i n g t h e i r b e s t , 

and o f c o u r s e , t h e r e were a l s o t h e bums, and the cowards who a l s o 

got k i l l e d b ut i t seems l i k e such a h o r r i b l e waste o f man power. 

And I r e a l i z e d when I moved the 29th D i v i s i o n i n c l o s e r , t h a t I 

was g o i n g t o s a c r i f i c e maybe a thousand o r two or more o f the 

29th D i v i s i o n a t l e a s t t o an e a r l i e r g r a v e . Change the names and 

ad d r e s s e s o f the widows and orphans, but i t was n e c e s s a r y t o get 

those t r o o p s i n t h e r e as soon as p o s s i b l e , because the f i r s t i s 
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w i t h t h e mostest, yes, t h a t i s t r u e . But under th o s e c o n d i t i o n s 

o f t h e enemy pe e p i n g down a t us a l l the time, i t was g o i n g t o be 

d i f f i c u l t f o r the 1 s t D i v i s i o n t o do a n y t h i n g , I f i g u r e d , and the 

29 t h coming a l o n g might have some more f i r e power and see where 

the o b j e c t i v e s were and f i r e i n . I t was almost t h a t way when i t 

came o u t . A c t u a l l y , the movie T h e L o n g e s t D a y showed a C o l o n e l 

i n t h e 29th D i v i s i o n , you remember the 1 s t D i v i s i o n was p r e t t y 

much i g n o r e d t h e r e because they were i n p r e t t y bad shape up 

a g a i n s t the sand dunes. Because e v e r y mortar would come o v e r and 

p i c k o f f somebody, k i l l somebody and wound some more. And so the 

29th D i v i s i o n came i n a l i t t l e b i t f r e s h e r and one c o l o n e l was 

h o l l e r i n g and screaming, "We are b e i n g k i l l e d here on the beach 

head l e t ' s go i n l a n d t o get k i l l e d . " And he got enough a c t i v i t y 

w i t h b a n g a l o r e torpedoes t o knock out a p a t h , on t h r o u g h t h e r e . 

They went up through a g u l l y , which i s the most s a c r i f i c i a l way 

t o go. You are much b e t t e r o f f g o i n g up over the b l u n t o f a 

h i l l , t he c i r c l e o f a h i l l , because t h a t g i v e s you some h i d i n g 

space. They have t o s t a n d up t o see you. Where, i n the g u l l y , 

you have a t t a c k a r e a e x p o s i n g you t o s e v e r a l d i r e c t i o n s o f f i r e 

and no h i d i n g c o v e r . But they a c t u a l l y went up a g u l l y . The 

"draw" i t i s c a l l e d . I thought i t was a l l wrong. 

I b e l i e v e i t was D+2 the f i r s t time I went a c r o s s the whole 

of t he beach-head. I got over t o P o i n t du Hoc, depending upon 

which map you read, where you saw P r e s i d e n t Reagan d e d i c a t e a 

memorial t o those men who s a c r i f i c e d t h e i r l i f e f o r v i r t u a l l y no 

p o i n t a t a l l , s e v e n t y - f i v e p e r c e n t o f the b a t t a l i o n , p r o b a b l y 400 
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men k i l l e d . Whatever. I got t h e r e and I found a s t r a g g l e r , a GI 

w i t h no ammunition, no helmet, no weapon, no ammunition and no 

gun b e l t , t h a t ' s what I am t h i n k i n g o f . And I saw t h e r e was an 

o p e n i n g t o the underground e n c l o s u r e and I thought i n terms t h a t 

I have been t h r o u g h Mine Booby Trap i n D e m o l i t i o n S c h o o l i n N o r t h 

A f r i c a , I s h o u l d know enough t o how t o go i n here. And t h i s guy 

wanted t o f o l l o w me and I s a i d , "Okay, you do e x a c t l y l i k e I say 

and you do not t o u c h a n y t h i n g , u n t i l I l o o k i t o v e r . I have got 

a f l a s h l i g h t . You f o l l o w me and when I t e l l you t o f r e e z e , you 

f r e e z e . They may have booby t r a p s and so f o r t h h e r e . " 

They d i d not have booby t r a p s . They were i n p r e t t y bad 

shape. I n combat you don't s e t booby t r a p s l i k e t h a t . But, s u r e 

enough, t h e r e was an unexploded r e l e a s e d American hand grenade 

r i g h t a t t h e e n t r a n c e . We had t o s t e p around i t t o get i n . 

Because i f you k i c k i t , i t might go o f f . So we went i n s i d e w i t h 

a f l a s h l i g h t , t h i s and t h a t . They had b u t t e r on the t a b l e and 

f o o d . They a p p a r e n t l y had been i n t e r r u p t e d i n the mid d l e o f 

t h e i r meal, i n and o u t , t r y i n g t o get a l i t t l e f o o d . I found 

what l o o k e d a w h i t e h a n d l e d bone h a n d l e d k n i f e . And when I got 

i t out i t as a s o u v e n i r i t was marked l i k e i t was made i n the 

U.S.A. but i t l o o k e d t o me t h a t i t was an i n f r i n g e m e n t o f 

m a n u f a c t u r e d i n the U n i t e d S t a t e s . I don't t h i n k a n y t h i n g i n the 

U.S.A. would have been t h a t f l i m s y . I s t i l l have the k n i f e . 

But on the way o u t , I had t h i s guy go ahead o f me and, s u r e 

enough, what d i d he do? He k i c k e d the hand grenade. W e l l , we 

were l u c k y . I t d i d not go o f f . 
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On my f i r s t t r i p t o the beachhead, I saw the LCI, L a n d i n g 

C r a f t I n f a n t r y . I t had something l i k e 75 e n l i s t e d men t o come i n 

on and run down the ramps and be ashore and t h a t would l o o s e n i t 

up and i t c o u l d f l o a t out a g a i n , e a s i l y . I n s t e a d , i t got h i t by 

the Germans, by a s h e l l , r i g h t i n the f r o n t compartment. There 

were 29 b o d i e s t h a t , when I 'came a l o n g , German p r i s o n e r s were 

t a k i n g them out . That was D + 2. There are p i c t u r e s o f i t i n 

v a r i o u s p u b l i c a t i o n s o f h i s t o r y o f the war. There was a l l k i n d s 

o f waste o f c o u r s e . One s i g n o f the t i m e s . The f i r s t time I 

went over t o f i n d G e n e r a l Hoag, t h e b i g Beach M a s t e r G e n e r a l w i t h 

a message from the A d m i r a l , I had come o f f from the s h i p w i t h a 

l u n c h o f t u r k e y and g r a v y and dumplings and peas, I t h i n k c a r r o t s 

and a l l the gravy and c r a n b e r r y jam you wanted. And I t h i n k we 

had i c e cream. I am not sure about the i c e cream, now. But i t 

was c e r t a i n l y f i l l i n g and d e l i c i o u s and a l l t h a t . I was f u r i o u s 

because we had t a k e n on some Army p e r s o n n e l , i n c l u d i n g the Beach 

M a s t e r G e n e r a l and some o f h i s men, f o r the l a s t p a r t o f the 

i n v a s i o n p r e p a r a t i o n s . And then t h e y were t o go ashore t h a t same 

f i r s t day. Which they d i d do. There was o n l y a few, maybe a 

hundred o r so. I t was a b i g s h i p - f o r t y thousand tons - t h a t i s 

e q u i v a l e n t t o 27,000 a u t o m o b i l e w e i g h t . That i s a l o t o f w e i g h t . 

I t was a 40,000 t o n s h i p , l i k e the T i t a n i c . The q u a l i t y o f the 

Navy food t h a t we were e a t i n g went down w h i l e the Army was 

b o a r d i n g w i t h us and soon as th e y l e f t , j u s t a few o f the 

o f f i c e r s you see, about f o u r o f us, something l i k e t h a t , t h e n the 

r a t i o n p i c k e d up and we had the t u r k e y . We c o u l d not g i v e those 
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guys who were g o i n g i n , f a c i n g d e a t h , the t u r k e y ? W e l l , I was 

p r e t t y a g h a s t . I a t e i t and then I went ashore and caught up 

w i t h G e n e r a l Hoag. And he s a i d , "Come on i n , i t ' s time f o r my 

l u n c h . " I d i d not t e l l him t h a t I had mine e a r l i e r . "Yes s i r . " 

And so he s i g n a l e d t o somebody, "Heat up two." So v e r y soon 

a f t e r t h a t , t h e y gave me a spoon and a k n i f e and the G e n e r a l gave 

me a hot can o f "C r a t i o n s " which I preceded t o e a t , on top o f my 

n i c e t u r k e y d i n n e r which I j u s t s t u f f e d m y s e l f w i t h . I d i d not 

dare m e n t i o n t o him t h a t I had had a l u n c h w i t h t u r k e y and 

d r e s s i n g and a l l e x t r a s t h a t go w i t h i t . C r a n b e r r y sauce t o o , I 

b e l i e v e . So I saw some t h i n g s I d i d not want t o see. I d i d not 

a c t u a l l y have any f e a r f o r my l i f e i n s p i t e o f e v e r y t h i n g . 

I do r e c a l l now t h a t i n one o f the D-Day c e l e b r a t i o n s on TV 

where t h e y had a number o f persons t a l k i n g about the o p e r a t i o n . 

G e n e r a l Eisenhower was t a l k i n g . They showed some b o a t s g o i n g i n 

a c i r c l e , i n s u n l i g h t , which was p r o b a b l y made o f f from a s h i p 

l o o k i n g down a t i t , b ut I doubt i t was a t D-Day, but i t was a 

s i m i l a r o p e r a t i o n . The Ge n e r a l was c o m p l a i n i n g t h a t someone had 

put the 2 9 t h D i v i s i o n i n so c l o s e i n tim e , so t h a t the beaches 

were so l o a d e d w i t h so many t r o o p s and v e h i c l e s , t h a t some o f the 

boat l o a d s had t o c i r c l e f o r hours out t h e r e g e t t i n g the e n l i s t e d 

men s i c k e r and s i c k e r . That i s t r u e . I d i d t h a t . I had the 

29th D i v i s i o n i m m e d i a t e l y f o l l o w the 1 s t D i v i s i o n ' i n t o the beach­

head. I t h i n k they would have l o s t i t i f they had not g o t t e n 

t h e r e i n the f i r s t d a y l i g h t . I f t h e y had w a i t e d u n t i l D + 2 i t 

would have been h o p e l e s s . They were t h e r e l a t e i n the f i r s t day 
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and t h e b a t t l e r e p o r t s i n the movie, T h e L o n g e s t D a y , you might 

r e c a l l , t h e r e was no communications back t o England from the 1 s t 

D i v i s i o n on the beachhead because t h e y were p i n n e d down. They 

were h o p e l e s s , h e l p l e s s , t h e y c o u l d not get t o t h e i r o b j e c t i v e s . 

They c o u l d not r e t r e a t . They c o u l d not go f o r w a r d . They c o u l d 

not come backwards. They d i d not know whether they had a chance 

t o go down the beachhead t o j o i n the B r i t i s h . They d i d not know 

whether th e B r i t i s h had been s u c c e s s f u l . They d i d not know i f 

whether th e o t h e r beachhead had a l r e a d y s u r r e n d e r e d or was t h i s 

a n o t h e r D u n k i r k i n which they were g o i n g t o be chased out i n t o 

the w a t e r but o n l y t h i s time the Germans would be t r y i n g t o get 

them i n mass and we would not have g o t t e n away w i t h i t . So I 

t h i n k t h e y were w a i t i n g t o see i f t h e y had t o put i n e i t h e r a 

v o l u n t a r y s u r r e n d e r t o save the r e s t o f the l i v e s o r t o c a l l f o r 

Eisenhower's p e r m i s s i o n t o be withdrawn. And you do not make a 

q u i c k d e c i s i o n on t h a t a t t i m e s l i k e t h a t . And so t h e r e was not 

any communication f o r a l o n g t i m e . I am g l a d t h a t I got t h e 2 9 t h 

D i v i s i o n t o go i n two days e a r l y . I hate t o t h i n k what might 

have happened i f they went i n a t D+2. They might have found out 

t h a t the 1 s t D i v i s i o n had s u r r e n d e r e d . Running out o f f o o d and 

ammunition and m e d i c a l s u p p l i e s and h o p e l e s s [they] c o u l d not get 

t o t h e i r o b j e c t i v e s . C o u l d not a s s a u l t the enemy. C o u l d not r u n 

down the beach. C o u l d not go back t o the s h i p s and so had t o 

s u r r e n d e r t o save l i v e s . They would have been i n a h o p e l e s s 

p o s i t i o n . Then what would the 29 t h D i v i s i o n had done? Would 

th e y have l a n d e d and gone t h r o u g h the same performance? I f t h e y 
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d i d n o t l a n d , what would the B r i t i s h and the Canadian t r o o p s do 

up the beachhead? Would they h o l d and t r y t o r e t r e a t and produce 

a n o t h e r D u n k i r k ? What about Utah beachhead then? Would we j u s t 

go i n th e n a t Utah and expect the v i c t o r i o u s Germans t o not push 

us out o f Utah Beach? Would we have t o withdraw a l l the way 

a c r o s s ? I f Omaha Beach would have been a f a i l u r e , i t would have 

d e m o r a l i z e d t h e o t h e r beachheads, and the p a r a t r o o p e r s . And then 

what would have happened? W e l l , i f we had t o withdraw, t h e r e 

would be no way t h a t we c o u l d have made a n o t h e r i n v a s i o n attempt 

i n the same y e a r . I t had taken us a year t o get ready f o r t h a t 

one. And w i t h so much m a t e r i a l l o s t and so f o r t h and t r o o p s and 

amphibious t r o o p s and so f o r t h l o s t and you j u s t can not p r e p a r e 

a l l t h e s e r e p l a c e m e n t s i n summer time which was a l r e a d y i n t o the 

h i g h e s t sun. So i t would have d e l a y e d t h e i n v a s i o n t o the nex t 

ye a r . By t h a t time we had the atomic bomb ready f o r the 

Japanese. We might have d e c i d e d t o use i t on B e r l i n . I t c o u l d 

have changed t h e whole complexion o f the war. I t c o u l d have 

changed a l o t o f t h i n g s . 

W e l l , i t i s the o l d s t o r y , one t h a t goes back i n the o l d 

c a v a l r y days. "For a want o f a n a i l , a horseshoe was l o s t ; f o r 

want o f a horseshoe, the horse was l o s t ; f o r want o f the h o r s e , 

the r i d e r was l o s t ; f o r want o f the r i d e r , the message was l o s t ; 

f o r want o f the message, the b a t t l e was l o s t ; f o r want o f the 

b a t t l e , t h e war was l o s t . " W e l l , t h a t i s a l o t o f c o i n c i d e n c e s , 

but t h e r e was something g o i n g on t h e r e . We d i d make i t and the 

c a s u a l t i e s were v e r y h i g h because we went i n t o the wrong k i n d o f 
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p l a c e . We s h o u l d have gone i n t o f l a t l a n d l i k e Utah beachhead, 

on what the B r i t i s h and Canadians went i n on. We s h o u l d not have 

gone i n where t h e y c o u l d l o o k down on the top o f our heads and 

shoot us l i k e ducks i n a p u d d l e . L i k e ducks i n a s h o o t i n g 

g a l l e r y . So go up t o the beachhead and t a k e p i c t u r e s o f the 

graves up t h e r e . Those were a l l brave men t o go i n . And t h e r e 

were a few cowards i n t h e r e but they a l s o gave t h e i r l i v e s . They 

c o u l d not g i v e any more. 

So when i t came time f o r me t o f i g u r e o u t , George, the 

A d m i r a l and the G e n e r a l a re s t i l l a r g u i n g , you know t h a t the 

storm i s coming i n . And we are g o i n g t o be v e r y c r i t i c a l t o 

s u p p l i e s so we are g o i n g t o l o s e b o t h the 1 s t and the 29th 

D i v i s i o n because we do not know where the s u p p l i e s we need a r e , 

and we are r u n n i n g s h o r t o f h o s p i t a l s u p p l i e s , m e d i c a l s u p p l i e s , 

c e r t a i n ammunition. We cannot push the Germans back now t h a t we 

d i d get up t h e r e . We cannot do the s e t h i n g s w i t h o u t the s p e c i a l 

s u p p l i e s so ... I have seen where a l l k i n d s o f men had g i v e n 

t h e i r l i v e s and h e a l t h and were c a s u a l t i e s one way o r the an o t h e r 

i n t h i s e f f o r t . And I saw where t h e r e was o n l y two persons i n 

the w o r l d who c o u l d get t h i s M a n i f e s t d e a l s t r a i g h t e n e d up. I t 

was the A d m i r a l who d i d not want t o because he wanted t o blame 

the G e n e r a l f o r i t not happening. And the G e n e r a l c o u l d have but 

he d i d not want t o do i t because the s i t u a t i o n was t h a t he wanted 

t o blame the A d m i r a l f o r the f a i l u r e and so t h i s was g o i n g t o 

c o n t i n u e . And t h e r e was one o t h e r p e r s o n who c o u l d get the j o b 

s t r a i g h t e n e d out and get the M a n i f e s t a c r o s s , and t h a t was me. 
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The o n l y way I c o u l d do i t would be t o l i e and c h e a t , and 

d e c e i v e and r i s k a l l k i n d o f c o u r t m a r t i a l c h a r g e s . So I s t a r t e d 

c o u n t i n g them up because I was r e l i e v e d a t noon on D + 11 and 

t o l d t h e r e would be a boat coming a l o n g and I c o u l d get i n on 

t i m e . So the boat came a l o n g and l o w e r e d my one bag, t h a t i s 

a l l we took on the s h i p from the h o t e l . And I went o v e r b o a r d and 

got down t h e r e , i t was a PT boat, o u t f i t t e d f o r t h i s o p e r a t i o n 

w i t h o u t t o r p e d o e s . And, they s a i d , "Yeah we go back t o E n g l a n d 

p r e t t y soon, I have got t o make a few more s t o p s . " We made a few 

more s t o p s a t d i f f e r e n t s h i p s , and I . s a i d , " C a p t a i n when a r e we 

g o i n g back, you can see t h i s storm i s coming i n , the waves a r e 

g e t t i n g b i g g e r and I have seen the weather r e p o r t s . I t i s coming 

i n . I t i s g o i n g t o be p r e t t y s e v e r e . " He s a i d , " I cannot f i n d 

p e r m i s s i o n t o l e a v e . T h i s i s the t h e a t e r o f combat, I want t o go 

back t o the zone o f communications. And I cannot j u s t go. That 

i s c o w a r d i c e i n the f a c e o f the enemy. I t i s d e s e r t i o n . " He 

s a i d , " I have t o have a u t h o r i t y t o go." I r e p l i e d , " W e l l , have 

you been t o such and such?" "Yeah." "Have you been t o so and 

s o ? " "Yeah." "Have you been t o t h e r e ? " "Yeah. They a l l t e l l me 

no, t h e y cannot a u t h o r i z e me t o go back." I s a i d , "What k i n d o f 

an o r d e r do you need?" " W e l l , a t t h i s time, I would t a k e 

anybody's o r d e r . These men been out here f i f t e e n days o r more, 

bob b i n g around, never a stopped moment, motors g o i n g a l l t he 

time, and the motors need s e r v i c i n g , t o o . They are g o i n g t o 

break down p r e t t y soon. They cannot run f i f t e e n days 

c o n t i n u o u s l y w i t h o u t a l i t t l e s e r v i c i n g . And, yeah, I got some 
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f u e l h e r e and t h e r e . Even the men have t o go back. They cannot 

bob around f o r two more weeks out here. They got t o go back and 

get r e c o n d i t i o n e d and come back here. We've got t o go. 

Everybody t h i n k s we are g o i n g back, but we do not have a u t h o r i t y . 

I have got t o have a u t h o r i t y t o go back." I s a i d , " W e l l , how 

about some v e r b a l o r d e r s ? " He s a i d , "Oh, I would take any k i n d 

o f o r d e r s now, v e r b a l o r w r i t t e n , i t does not make any 

d i f f e r e n c e . I would t a k e a n y t h i n g a t t h i s p o i n t . " I s a i d , " W e l l 

what about a s s i s t a n t G-4 o f the L i a i s o n S t a f f f o r Com E l e v e n t h 

P h i b , w h i c h i s the Commander of the 11 t h Amphibious Force, which 

was t h e commander, my A d m i r a l ? " I was t a l k i n g about m y s e l f . He 

s a i d , "That would be f i n e . " W e l l , I h e s i t a t e d and s a i d , "Or the 

a s s i s t a n t G-3 o f the same s t a f f ? " "Oh, f i n e , e i t h e r one o f them 

would be f i n e . " "Okay, how about the a d j u t a n t o f the l i a i s o n 

s t a f f o r commander [of] Omaha out h e r e ? " I s a i d , " I am a l l t h r e e 

o f them." Which was not t r u e . I had been r e l i e v e d o f those 

d u t i e s a t noon and here i t was about two t h i r t y i n the a f t e r n o o n 

now. He s a i d , " W e l l , I w i l l t ake a n y t h i n g now, j u s t g i v e g i v e me 

the o r d e r s . " I had h e s i t a t e d l o n g enough. My c o n s c i e n c e was 

c l e a r . I was the o n l y p e r s o n i n the w o r l d who c o u l d do t h i s . I t 

i s needed. Do i t . I s a i d , " C a p t a i n , have you got enough f u e l ? " 

H i s man a t t h e wheel nodded h i s head i n the a f f i r m a t i v e f a s h i o n , 

"Yes, we have got enough f u e l t o get back." "Okay," I s a i d , 

"what i s your h a r b o r t o go t o ? " He s a i d , " P o r t l a n d , Weymouth." 

I s a i d , "That i s v e r y d e s i r a b l e as t h a t i s where I want t o go t o . 

That i s where my h o t e l i s w i t h a l l my gear. I have got t o go 
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back t o London." So I s a i d , " C a p t a i n , t a k e your crew and boat 

back t o E n g l -" I never f i n i s h e d the s e n t e n c e . Zoom, the boat, 

motor r o a r e d i n t h e r e . We dug a h o l e i n the water, w i t h those 

p r o p e l l e r s s p i n n i n g l i k e mad, and we took o f f f o r England. I t 

was rough because the waves were g e t t i n g l a r g e and we were 

h i t t i n g them h a r d so t h a t we c o u l d not s t a n d up and we c o u l d not 

s i t down because the v i b r a t i o n would j u s t k i l l us. I f we were 

s t r a i g h t up, our knees c o u l d not t a k e i t , and s i t t i n g down, our 

r e a r c o u l d not t a k e i t . And then t h e r e was a n o t h e r f u n c t i o n t h a t 

was i n t e r r u p t e d t o o . E v e r y f i f t e e n t o twenty minutes we would 

get i n l i n e and hand o v e r hand, we would never l e t go w i t h two 

hands a t once. We would always hang on w i t h a t l e a s t one hand. 

And we went and took our t u r n a t the back o f the boat, r e l i e v i n g 

o u r s e l v e s i n t o t h e water, because your k i d n e y s were w o r k i n g over 

time, and t h a t v i b r a t i o n j u s t shakes a l l the water out o f 

everybody. We were a l l d e h y d r a t e d . 

So we got back t o England and I st o p p e d i n t o a t e a p l a c e 

and bought a l l t h e s m a l l phone change t h e y had. Bought a l i t t l e 

t e a which I do not l i k e . And went t o the t e l e p h o n e booth t h e r e 

outdoors and s t a r t e d c a l l i n g from memory. F i r s t I c a l l e d the 

T r a n s p o r t a t i o n C a p t a i n , who had a P i p e r Cub a i r p l a n e t o f l y the 

" M i s s i n g M a n i f e s t s " t o the f l a t l a n d above G e n e r a l Hoag's beach. 

I saw i t . I t ' s OK. When you get t h e r e you t e l l them what e x t r a 

t r e e s t o c u t down f o r windy f l y i n g . Then I c a l l e d each o f the 

"Hards," t h o s e a r e beaches, p r a c t i c e o p e r a t i o n beaches, where 

t r o o p s r e c e n t l y l e f t from, and I t a l k e d t o each o f the Duty 
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O f f i c e r s t o e x p l a i n the s i t u a t i o n and t h a t t h e y were t o get 

c o p i e s A, o f today, and copy B, o f y e s t e r d a y , and s t o r e copy C, 

and f u n n e l them, by c o u r i e r , on a d a i l y b a s i s t o a r r i v e a t j u s t 

b e f o r e noon a t C a p t a i n so and so's a t the T r a n s p o r t a t i o n Corps, 

o v e r h e r e , because he i s g o i n g t o ta k e them i m m e d i a t e l y , over t o 

the a i r p o r t and f l y them over a t noontime and be back b e f o r e 

s u n s e t . And t h a t t o time t h e i r s c h e d u l e t o b r i n g the l a t e s t 

M a n i f e s t , i n c l u d i n g a l l the o l d ones, t h a t were a l l ready a f l o a t 

o v e r t h e r e , we needed those i n p a r t i c u l a r . So I went by phone 

from h a r b o r t o h a r b o r t o h a r b o r . I got t o the l a s t . I got 

f a r t h e r out i n towards Land's End out t h e r e . And communication 

was poor, i f you are f a m i l i a r w i t h the o l d B r i t i s h t e l e p h o n e s a t 

t h a t t i m e . The s i g n a l s were weak and the d i s t o r t i o n was h i g h and 

the q u a l i t y was poor. And I am h o l l e r i n g a t t h i s o f f i c e r and 

t e l l i n g him, " T h i s i s L i e u t e n a n t George Bonadio. I am a d j u t a n t 

on t h e l i a i s o n s t a f f f o r Commander o f the 11th Amphibious F o r c e , 

F o r c e Omaha, and I am back here because we are i n d i f f i c u l t y . 
i 

The m a n i f e s t s a re not coming through, and we need you t o h e l p as 

f o l l o w s . " And I t o l d him about g e t t i n g t h e s e t h i n g s f l o w n o v e r 

by g o i n g o v e r t o t h a t p a r t i c u l a r a i r p o r t w i t h a j e e p runner and 

t o make i t a d a i l y program, and so he says, " W e l l , I am Ma j o r so 

and so, and you are j u s t another v o i c e on the t e l e p h o n e t o me." 

Here I had dragged up, what I had counted, seventeen c o u r t 

m a r t i a l charges a g a i n s t me and maybe t h i s guy has got the m e d i c a l 

s u p p l i e s t h a t we need, and he i s not g o i n g t o f o l l o w t h r o u g h . I t 

i s e l e v e n o ' c l o c k a t n i g h t and I am s i c k a t h e a r t . S i c k o f 
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frame. Beat t o d e a t h . Dehydrated. T i r e d because [ a f t e r ] e l e v e n 

days o f i n s u f f i c i e n t s l e e p you get t i r e d , and because I had 

d u t i e s e v e r y s i x h o u r s , amongst o t h e r t h i n g s . H a l f r e c o v e r e d 

from m a l a r i a . And from noon t o s i x , m i d n i g h t t o s i x a.m. I was 

on s p e c i f i c d u t y where I c o u l d not l i e down anywhere. And t h i s 

guy was not g o i n g t o f o l l o w t h r o u g h . I had t o t h i n k f a s t . 

I complimented him on h i s c a u t i o n , and so f o r t h , and i f he 

would check he would f i n d the o t h e r I n v a s i o n Hards were d o i n g the 

same t h i n g , because i t was n e c e s s a r y , and t h e y r e c o g n i z e d me i n . 

some o f t h e s e p l a c e s , j u s t because he d i d not, t h a t was okay. So 

I s a i d , " J u s t f o r the r e c o r d , l e t me go th r o u g h t h i s a g a i n , 

s p e c i f i c a l l y , so t h a t you do not miss a n y t h i n g . L e t me e x p l a i n 

i t t o you. My name i s L i e u t e n a n t - C o l o n e l George Bonadio. And my 

p o s i t i o n i s A s s i s t a n t G-3, A s s i s t a n t G-4, Com 1 1 t h Amphib Force, 

and we a r e i n g r e a t d i s t r e s s , out t h e r e , because o f t h i s . " By 

t h i s t i me he r e c o g n i z e d t h a t I was a L i e u t e n a n t - C o l o n e l and he 

was o n l y a M a j o r and he s a i d , "Uh yes, I do b e l i e v e we can do a l l 

t h a t f o r you C o l o n e l . " W e l l , I p r e t e n d e d not t o hear the 

" C o l o n e l . " But I d i d hear i t , and r e c o g n i z e d t h a t I i l l e g a l l y 

o u t r a n k e d him, and c o e r c e d him t o do t h i s . So I r e a l l y was i n 

hock. Number e i g h t e e n , c o u r t m a r t i a l charge I had e s t i m a t e d 

a g a i n s t m y s e l f . 

So we got the j o b done and I went o f f t o my h o t e l and s l e p t 

16 hours, l o n g e r than I have ever s l e p t b e f o r e i n my l i f e . I was 

d e h y d r a t e d by the b o u n c i n g PT boat t r i p , so b a d l y t h a t I c o u l d 

s l e e p f o r 16 h o u r s . Remember t h a t i f my A d m i r a l had not v o i d e d 
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my p r o m o t i o n t o C a p t a i n , I c o u l d not have t r i c k e d t h a t M a j o r from 

C a p t a i n t o L t . C o l . , but I t r i e d from L t . t o L t . C o l . and i t 

worked. And i n the p r o c e s s somewhere l a t e r i n M i l i t a r y HQ i n 

London, I t r i e d t o get a j o b , anywhere. The Army spent t h i r t y o r 

f o r t y days not h a v i n g a j o b f o r me. E v e n t u a l l y , they put me i n 

the 5 t h I n f a n t r y D i v i s i o n . Saw some i n t e r e s t i n g t h i n g s t h e r e . 

Our men coming back. We had g o t t e n t o Verdun and our s c o u t s had 

come back and the Germans were a l l on the f a r s i d e o f the Rhine 

R i v e r (which our h i s t o r y a v o i d s t e l l i n g , how we b l u n d e r e d a q u i c k 

f i n a l e ) , and i t was not u n t i l a f t e r t h a t u n t i l t h e y came back a t 

the B a t t l e o f the B u l g e . We had r u n out o f f u e l and t h a t was our 

problem and I c o u l d w r i t e a book about some o f those t h i n g s . 

Oh, a t Omaha, I d i d go ashore w i t h a Navy o r d e r , Navy 

I n t e l l i g e n c e N2 had me e s c o r t t h e i r man ashore t o f i n d out about 

th e s e r o c k e t l a u n c h e r s i t e s . They had found one. And the 

i n f a n t r y t r o o p s had r e p o r t e d back. And so I brought them i n t o 

show them where i t was because I was p r i v y t o a l l t h i s 

i n f o r m a t i o n . I t was a requ i r e m e n t t h a t I , i n l i a i s o n , had 

l e a r n e d a l l o f e v e r y t h i n g t h a t happened, t h a t was g o i n g on, so I 

had t o r e a d e v e r y t h i n g . I was nervous and so I brought them i n . 

They had i n t e l l i g e n c e s a y i n g t h a t i t weighed 80 tons and we got 

to t h i s f i e l d t h a t was p r o b a b l y j u s t o v er an a c r e , i t had t r e e s 

around i t , and i t had i n i t t h i s square p l o t about the s i z e o f a 

bedroom, good s i z e bedroom, o f a h a r d c o n c r e t e f o u n d a t i o n and 

some m e t a l i n s e r t s i n t o the f o u n d a t i o n f o r a heavy l o a d , but 

t h e r e was no o t h e r s t r u c t u r e t h e r e . And we c o u l d see t h a t the 
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f o o t work i n the g r a s s was done i n such a way t h a t t h e y would use 

a d i f f e r e n t p a t h a l l the ti m e . They d i d not make any p a t h t h a t 

c o u l d be seen from the a i r . So t h e y would not t r e a d the g r a s s , 

but t h e y had a l l k i n d o f work g o i n g on underneath the t r e e s t o 

b u i l d t h i s t h i n g and t h e r e was some s t e e l work around. We c o u l d 

not e s t i m a t e how i n the w o r l d t h i s l i t t l e l a u n c h s i t e c o u l d put 

out an 80 t o n v e h i c l e i n t o the sky. I t would smash i t a l l t o 

p i e c e s . W e l l , what we were l o o k i n g a t was a 2 t o n V - l l a u n c h 

s i t e and t h e i n t e l l i g e n c e had t o do w i t h the V-2 which were 40 

tim e s b i g g e r and c o u l d not take a s m a l l s i t e l i k e t h a t . We d i d 

not know t h a t a t the ti m e . 

So, I was always the o f f b e a t . I never seemed t o do a n y t h i n g 

t h a t a g r e e d w i t h anybody e l s e . I was always the o d d b a l l d o i n g 

something d i f f e r e n t . I was not d o i n g t h i n g s t h a t o t h e r s were 

d o i n g . One time I had a p l a t o o n o f 85 s o l d i e r s , and 35 M a r i n e s , 

115 men, and I was the one o f f i c e r . On the s h i p over someone 

s a i d , "We have broken out here some new r o c k e t s . Who wants t o 

f i r e one o f t h e s e i n the ocean f o r us? Read the i n s t r u c t i o n s and 

do i t . " So I v o l u n t e e r e d . So I was one o f the f i r s t American 

t r o o p s t o f i r e one under combat c o n d i t i o n s . We were p r o b a b l y 

under f i r e f o r German submarines and such. And, oh, a l o t o f 

t h i n g s went on. 

One o f the funny t h i n g s was a t Camp E l l i o t , named a f t e r 

E l l i o t R o o s e v e l t , the P r e s i d e n t ' s son (whom I brought a S i g n a l 

Corps message from h i s f a t h e r ! ) , i n San Diego. We had a show 

come on, E d d i e C a n t e r came a l o n g w i t h a b e a u t i f u l g i r l s i n g e r and 
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so f o r t h and he put on a show f o r 5,000 M a r i n e s . We Army 

o f f i c e r s and w i v e s , and I was not m a r r i e d , s a t i n the f r o n t . 

Why? Because we were g u e s t s o f the M a r i n e s and th e y always go 

out. And so Edd i e C a n t e r got t h i s b e a u t i f u l g i r l t o get out 

t h e r e w i t h t h i s g r e a t b i g f u r s t o l e on so you c o u l d not see h e r . 

He knew what he was d o i n g . And f i n a l l y E d d i e , w h i l e she was 

s i n g i n g b e a u t i f u l songs, E d d i e came over and p o i n t e d t o the 

s t o l e , and made motions t o the 5,000 M a r i n e s . A f t e r the song, 

t h e r e was a chant, " t a k e i t o f f , t a k e i t o f f , " so f i n a l l y she 

handed him t h e s t o l e and he t o s s e s i t down t o the o f f i c e r ' s w i f e 

n e x t t o me. She s a i d , "What am I g o i n g t o do w i t h t h i s ? " I s a i d , 

" I ' l l t a k e i t . " So I took i t and w a i t e d and w a i t e d on him and 

towards the end o f the show Edd i e came over and i n d i c a t e d he 

wanted t h e s t o l e . And so I got up and walked over t o him and I 

p o i n t e d t o him and shook my head. Why? Because I knew I was not 

on a microphone and I p o i n t e d over t o the s i n g e r s i t t i n g back 

t h e r e and no d d i n g yes t o her and no t o you, so Edd i e was smart. 

He re a c h e d down and k i s s e d me on the f o r e h e a d t o get a l i t t l e 

r e a c t i o n out o f the crowd, which they d i d r e a c t t o w i t h t h e i r 

l a u g h t e r . And so E d d i e s t a r t e d back and motioned her t o come 

over and she came over towards him, and he w h i s p e r e d something t o 

her, and she nodded, yes. And she came over and reached down f o r 

her s t o l e , and th e n q u i c k l y grabbed me by the e a r s and k i s s e d me 

on the l i p s , which she was g o i n g to do t o somebody, anyway. T h i s 

was t h e o c c a s i o n o f c o u r s e and so t h e r e was a l l k i n d s o f "ohs" 

and "ahs" and t h i s and t h a t . She was a b e a u t i f u l g i r l . I d i d 
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not hear her name. So I had had i t . My e a r s must have been as 

re d as t h e y can be and I walked around the s i d e o f the s t a g e and 

out t o t h e back. Then, a p p a r e n t l y , she went back to her s e a t and 

s a t down, and the Marine guard s t a n d i n g t h e r e w i t h h i s r i f l e and 

bayonet ne x t t o h e r . The M a r i n e s ! He l e a n e d over and w h i s p e r e d 

something t o her and she s t o o d up and screamed, "Hey E d d i e , he i s 

not a M a r i n e . " T a l k about v o l u n t e e r s ! They f i l l e d the s t a g e and 

she had escaped through the back and she came out and she t o l d me 

what was g o i n g on. I s a i d , " I can hear on the microphone and the 

l o u d s p e a k e r t h e r e . " She s a i d , " I t i s g e t t i n g a l i t t l e c o o l . " 

And, I s a i d , " W e l l , the sun i s g o i n g down. That's my c a r i f you 

want t o s i t i n t h e r e and w a i t . " She s a i d , "My manager w i l l be . 

a l o n g here p r e t t y soon. I t w i l l be okay. He won't l e a v e me 

a l o n e l o n g . " I s a i d , "Okay, I am s o r r y I d i d not hear your 

name? What was your name?" She s a i d , "Oh, i t i s Dinah Shore." 

A v e r y n i c e J e w i s h g i r l , I heard. E d d i e C a n t e r , o f c o u r s e , was 

a J e w i s h boy. 

Things were g o i n g a l o n g f i n e . Omaha Beachhead? Yeah t h e r e 

i s a l i t t l e more d e t a i l s t h e r e I d i d not g i v e you. But I gave 

you a l o t o f s t u f f you d i d not need. You are a l l i n v i t e d t o my 

100 t h b i r t h d a y p a r t y , December *2 f£ 2017, Watertown, NY. On the 

h i s t o r i c a l sound r e c o r d i n g s , on the USS Ancon, HQ 11 t h Amphibious 

Force, D-Day n i g h t , newsman George H i x , whom I had met a t home i n 

1938, was r e c o r d i n g " G e n e r a l Q u a r t e r s . " We went top s i d e , got 

h i s r e c o r d c u t t e r g o i n g and r e c o r d e d the s h o o t i n g down of a 

German p l a n e . My v o i c e i s on t h a t tape, the weaker one, "Yeah! 

61 



Ados e ^UEM „ i 9UO 306 



e9 

i 


